

Between Norms and Interests

EU Democracy Promotion in the Mediterranean Neighbourhood

Nina Fredrikke Meyer Stensholt

ARENA Report No 2/08

Between Norms and Interests EU Democracy Promotion in the Mediterranean Neighbourhood

Nina Fredrikke Meyer Stensholt

Copyright © ARENA and Nina Fredrikke Meyer Stensholt ARENA Report Series (print) | ISSN 0807-3139 ARENA Report Series (online) | ISSN 1504-8152

Printed at ARENA Centre for European Studies University of Oslo P.O. Box 1143 Blindern N-0317 Oslo

Tel.: +47 22 85 76 77 Fax: +47 22 85 78 32

E-mail: arena@arena.uio.no http://www.arena.uio.no

Oslo, July 2008

Abstract

Democratic principles have traditionally not been an important aspect of the EU's foreign policy in the Mediterranean region, however, with the launch of the European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP), promotion of political reforms and norms appears to take on a more prominent role in the EU's Mediterranean policy. This analysis seeks to explain this emerging emphasis on democracy promotion in the Mediterranean region. Based on an analytical distinction between pragmatic, ethical-political, and moral arguments, this study suggests that the EU's democracy promotion is founded on more than utility considerations. In fact, it indicates that a sense of liaison-based duty to assist close neighbours is particularly important in understanding the focus on democratic principles in the ENP, and finally, that moral commitments appear to play a role, even if only an adjusting one. Hence, in light of the literature on the EU's foreign policy, and in particular its so-called 'normative' dimension, these findings present a nuanced picture and suggest that the EU's democracy promotion is neither a purely interest-based nor norm-based policy, rather it has elements of both, yet, with emphasis upon the latter.

Acknowledgements

The process of writing this thesis has been a challenging and rewarding experience. As the project has developed through the autumn of 2007 and spring 2008, and now finally has come to an end, there are many people that deserve my gratitude.

First of all, I would like to thank ARENA – Centre for European Studies, and all the people there, for granting me with a student scholarship, working space, and the opportunity to take part in an inspiring academic environment. My supervisor, Helene Sjursen, deserves special thanks for valuable guidance and theoretical insights throughout the project, and in particular during the final hectic weeks. I am very grateful for her encouragement and thoughtful comments and assistance.

I would also like to thank Martine, Marte, and Andreas: my fellow students at Arena for all our discussions, talks and laughs; Mari for all our coffee breaks and late nights at Ullevål; Ida for proof-reading; Erik, Marianne, and Guri for valuable advice, and my mother, Sidsel Meyer, for encouragement and helpful comments.

And last but not least, Lars, for all your love and support throughout a year of many ups and downs for both of us.

Responsibility for any errors and mistakes rest solely with the author.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER I	
INTRODUCTION	I
RESEARCH QUESTIONS	2
EU FOREIGN POLICY AND ENP	3
NORMATIVE PERSPECTIVES ON EU FOREIGN POLICY	4
EMPIRICAL BACKGROUND: THE CASE	5
THEORETICAL AND METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATION	ONS 7
ORGANISATION OF THE THESIS	8
CHAPTER 2	
THEORY AND METHODS	11
CONCEPTIONS OF RATIONALITY	11
THE THEORETICAL APPROACH	14
Pragmatic, Ethical-political, and Moral Arguments	14
What Added Value?	15
HYPOTHESES	16
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	17
Operationalisation of the Concepts	18
Analysing Arguments	21
Validity and Reliability of the Study	22
Research Design	23
Selection of Data	24
CHAPTER 3	
WHAT POLICY CHANGES?	
DEMOCRACY PROMOTION – A REVIEW	
How to Define Democracy and Promotion of Democracy	
The Normative and Legal Basis	
The First Steps: The Barcelona Process	
The New Framework: the European Neighbourhood Policy	31
STD ATECIES IN COMPADISON	30

What Level of Democracy Promotion?	34
Scopes of 'Actions'	
Commitment of Resources	
CHAPTER CONCLUSION	43
CHAPTER 4	
SECURITY AND ECONOMIC INTERESTS	47
EU Security and the Mediterranean	48
Democracy Promotion as Security Strategy	49
ENP and Security Arguments	50
An Anti-Terrorism Strategy?	54
Pattern	56
EU Economic Interests in the Mediterranean	57
ENP - Economic Gains	57
EU Energy Security	60
Pattern	61
CHAPTER CONCLUSION	61
CHAPTER 5	
NORMATIVE EXPLANATIONS	63
A COMMON (ID)ENTITY AND OTHER VALUES	
Mediterranean - the Cradle of Europe or the Clash of Civilis	
A Euro-Mediterranean Liaison?	
The EU as a Role Model: Regionalism	
Pattern	
RIGHTS: UNIVERSAL PRINCIPLES	
Democracy – A Universal Norm	
A Moral Responsibility?	
Universal Norms and Benefits	
Pattern	
CHAPTER CONCLUSION	0.1

CHAPTER 6	
CONCLUDING REMARKS	83
WHAT KIND OF FOREIGN POLICY?	83
THEORETICAL IMPLICATIONS	86
FURTHER RESEARCH	87
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES	89
LITERATURE	89
EU DOCUMENTS AND SPEECHES	98

List of Tables

Table I:	Action Plans: Number of Actions in the Democracy,
	Rule of Law and Human Rights Sections
Table 2:	EMP/ENP Commitments and Allocations for Seven
	Mediterranean Countries
Table 3:	EMP/ENP Commitments for Democracy, Human Rights
	and Rule of Law
Table 4:	EMP/ENP Democracy, Human Rights and Rule of Law
	Objectives

Abbreviations

AA Association Agreement

AP Action Plan

CFSP Common European Security Policy

CR Country Reports

CSP Country Strategy Paper

EIDHR European Initiative for Democracy and Human Rights

EMP Euro-Mediterranean Partnership
ENP European Neighbourhood Policy

ENPI European Neighbourhood Policy Instrument

ESS European Security Strategy

EU European Union

EUFP European Union Foreign Policy

ESDP European Security and Defence Policy

MEDA Measures d'accompagnement (EMP financial instrument)

MDP MEDA Democracy Programme NIP National Indicative Programme

IR International Relations

PHARE Poland and Hungary: Aid for Economic Reconstructing

(EU's technical assistance organisation for CCE

countries)

RIP Regional Indicative Programme

RSP Regional Strategy Paper

TACIS Technical Aid to the Commonwealth of Independent

States

TEU Treaty of the European Union

Chapter I

Introduction

International democracy promotion is not a new phenomenon, but it has advanced and become a more important and prioritised foreign policy activity after the end of the cold war, also in EU foreign policy. In the Mediterranean region, support for democratisation was first initiated at the Barcelona Conference in 1995, stating democracy and rule of law as basic principles in the Euro-Mediterranean Partnership (EMP or Euro-Med). The European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP), which was launched in 2003 with the aim of promoting political, economic, and security-related reforms in the neighbouring countries, gave renewed impetus for a strengthened democratisation strategy in the Mediterranean. The ENP was presented as a new policy framework of 'paramount importance' for EU external relations and was given 'top priority' by the Commission (Ferrero-Waldner 2004). Even more important, the ENP discourse appears to emphasise democracy in the Mediterranean to a much larger extent than the initiatives following the Barcelona Conference. As phrased by Commissioner Benita Ferrero-Waldner: "ENP gives us a framework for promoting democracy and economic development in the countries around the borders of an expanded EU. It aims to encourage the spirit of democracy by providing our partners with incentives to reform" (Ferrero-Waldener 2006c). Thus, the aim of this analysis is to examine the EU's emphasis on democracy promotion in the Mediterranean region with the launch of the European Neighbourhood Policy. Can the ENP be regarded as a substantial shift with regards to the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean? If so, what explains this change of policy?

Research Questions

Traditionally, the focus of international relations analysis is concentrated on how national interests are secured, without making room for normative concerns. From such a perspective, support for democratisation is just another instrument of securing particular interests. The security strategy of the European Union states that "[t]he best protection for our security is a world of well-governed democratic states" (Solana 2003:10). However, one might ask if a democratisation strategy would serve EU interests in the Mediterranean. Any democratisation process entails potential risks which could jeopardise the stability of the country. First, a process of transition and power re-distribution can lead to instability, in some instances it carries the risk of violent upheavals or even civil war (Gillespie and Youngs 2002:8). This is also illustrated by the position on democratisation that Burnell (2005:372) has labelled the Carnegie Perspective: democratic transformation has, with few exceptions, "been a conflictual, though not necessarily violent process" (Ottaway in Burnell 2005:372), democratisation in authoritarian countries cannot occur "without real politics and without conflict", and furthermore "fundamental change is always destabilizing to a certain extent" (Hawthorne in Burnell 2005:373). Second, democratisation may empower anti-democratic groups in a society and free elections may bring results that are not preferred by the EU (for example the victory of Hamas in the Palestinian area). Third, attempts to affect the internal political system in the Mediterranean states raise questions of sovereignty and interference in a state's internal affairs - it could cause de-stabilising backlashes against the West and Western influence (Youngs 2001:12). Finally, a democratisation strategy is both time and resource demanding and hence not expected to produce security on a short term basis. According to the predominant theories of international relations, a greater emphasis on democracy promotion in a challenging area like the Mediterranean could end up as counterproductive to EU's interests. Thus, in a rationalist perspective the promotion of democracy appears to be a somewhat dubious security strategy.

If security interests alone are insufficient in explaining democratisation of the southern neighbourhood of the EU, there might be other self-interests than ensuring stability involved, for example economic interests and expectations of economic gains. But it might also be explanations which are not related to maximising self-interests at all – e.g. that democratic principles are considered universal, and therefore *should* be promoted in all corners of the world. Moreover, the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean can originate in special relationships between European and South-Mediterranean countries leading to a sense of duty to help these countries in particular.

Chapter 1 3

These alternative explanations bring in values and norms as reasons for exporting democracy and can broaden our understanding of what are the driving forces of EU foreign policy. Furthermore, it may help explain what may at first seem like a contradictory policy. In this context, analysing democracy promotion in the Mediterranean can contribute to the broader debate of what drives action in international relations. The emphasis on values and rights also bring in the perceptions of the EU as a 'normative' power, and in that respect the focus on the EU's promotion of democracy might add insights to the debate on what kind of international actor the EU is.

This leads me to ask the following questions:

- 1. To what extent does the European Neighbourhood Policy represent a shift towards a stronger emphasis on democracy in the Mediterranean?
- 2. How can we account for this putative shift?

In order to answer these questions, the analysis will be performed in two steps. Firstly, I will outline the changes on democracy promotion the Mediterranean region with the introduction of ENP. By doing so, I wish to establish to what extent this in fact has become a foreign policy priority for the EU. Secondly, I move on to the main part of the analysis and will examine how the promotion of democracy can be explained. Finally, in my concluding remarks, I will discuss how my findings on the democratisation policies contribute to the debate of what characterises the EU's foreign policy.

EU Foreign Policy and ENP

The EU has in the past decade established itself as an important international actor. Not only as the world's largest trade power (Meunier and Nicolaïdis 2005:347), but also as a major actor within development aid and humanitarian assistance, and increasingly as a foreign policy and security actor (Vanhoonacker 2005:74-84). Despite the many debates on capabilities, coherence, and consistency in the EU's foreign policy, it is no longer controversial to speak of an EU foreign policy (EUFP). However, due to its particular nature, there are various ways of conceptualising and defining it. EU Foreign Policy is often referred to as the Common Foreign and Security Policy (CFSP) and European Security and Defence Policy (ESDP) in the second pillar. A delimitation of EUFP belonging exclusively to the second pillar, excludes an extensive part of the external activities and instruments of the EU. I will therefore employ a wider definition of EUFP, and rely on the conceptualisation suggested by Christopher Hill, namely: "the ensemble of all

the international activities of the European Union, including output from all three of the EU's pillars" (Hill 2004:145). This definition includes the external activities of the European Commission in the first pillar, and also the relevant instruments within the Justice and Home Affairs' third pillar, notably within immigration and counter-terrorism policies. This concept of the EU's foreign policy is especially useful in order to study the ENP, which is a comprehensive framework involving policy areas and instruments from all three pillars, and in particular the work of the European Commission. Moreover, the nature of democracy promotion itself is also versatile and placed in the nexus between development – and foreign policy, which suggests that a wide definition of foreign policy is useful.

Normative Perspectives on EU Foreign Policy

A study of the ENP and democracy promotion could contribute to the debate on normative features of the EU's foreign policy. In contrast to rational choice perspectives assuming that, "states cannot afford the luxury of propagating their own values in an uncertain and dangerous world [...] they should be guided by hard-headed security interests and commercial considerations" (Dunne and Wheeler 2001:169), liberal perspectives on foreign policy have made room for norms and values. In accordance with the idea of good international citizenship, "foreign policy [...] springs from the perspectives of democracy, human rights and good governance" (ibid:170). The promotion of human rights, rule of law, and democracy in third countries are in this regard viewed as key instruments of a normative or ethical foreign policy. The great emphasis of such policies by the EU adds to the notion that there is something distinct about the EU as an international actor. But does that really make the European Union a normative power or a "force of good" in the world?

As the EU gradually has become accepted as an important actor in the international arena, the question of what kind of international actor the EU is has resulted in an extensive debate. In this regard, François Duchêne's (1972) conception of the EU as a 'civilian' power, based on the particularity of the nature of the polity itself, and Ian Manners' idea of the EU as a 'normative' power (Manners 2002), have become main points of reference. The different contributors to the debate share a common interest in the assumed normative dimensions of the EU's foreign policy. Based on its particularities as an entity, the EU is conceptualised as a *civilian*, *normative*, and lately, also as an *ethical* power in the world. But how to define these notions of power and the nature of the EU remains contested (Sjursen 2007a). Moreover, the civilian

nature of the EU is being challenged by the access to military capabilities. Militarisation of the EU has led some scholars to argue that the EU no longer is a civilian power (Smith 2005a). Yet, in contrast to civilian and normative power, Aggestam remarks that concepts of ethical power encompass both civilian and military means (2008:2). Beyond this discussion, the promotion of democracy is often described as an explicit goal for the EU as a civilian power. On this basis, it is possible to claim that the EU's efforts to democratise the Mediterranean will account for the EU as a civilian power argument. But does it? Without necessary criteria and assessment standards, it is according to Sjursen not possible to qualify such claims (Sjursen 2007b). To answer the questions of what a normative or civilizing power should be, and "how do we know that 'acting in normative way' is a 'good thing'?" (2007b:81), she suggests that the answers lie in the direction of strengthening the cosmopolitan dimensions of international law: "a 'normative' power would be one that seeks to overcome power politics through a strengthening of not only international but cosmopolitan law, emphasising the rights of individuals and not only the rights of states to sovereign equality" (ibid.). According to Lerch and Schwellnus, how the Union justifies its policies visà-vis third countries is an important aspect of its role as a normative power. To what extent policies are driven by self-interests, rights or norms, thus make a difference to the characteristics of the Union's nature (2007:149). In this respect, they suggest that the EU is not 'normative by nature' but that "its normative power depends heavily on the interaction between its policy goals, means and justifications, and therefore varies between different issue areas" (ibid:150). Reference to democracy promotion is often taken as a normative feature in EU's foreign policy, by examining to what extent EU's democracy promotion is driven by self-interests, values or rights, this study may contribute to the normative power debate. In this regard, a distinction between values and rights seems particularly useful in order to clarify what kinds of norms a so-called normative policy is ascribed to.

Empirical Background: The Case

Historically, the Mediterranean region (or the Mediterranean) has been a collective term for all countries that border to on Mediterranean Sea. However, in this context it refers to a group of countries surrounding the Mediterranean Sea which are neither members of the EU nor have initiated membership negotiations. In the Euro-Mediterranean Barcelona Process (1995), there were twelve southern Mediterranean partners, but since then Cyprus and Malta have become members and Turkey has attained candidate

status.¹ This leaves us with nine Mediterranean countries in the ENP: Algeria, Egypt, Israel, Jordan, Lebanon, Morocco, Syria, Tunisia, and the Palestinian Authority.² Although this group of countries are highly diverse, they are treated collectively as one area.

Prior to the Barcelona Process, all relations with these Mediterranean states where regulated through bilateral agreements. The launch of the Euro-Med partnership in 1995 introduced a comprehensive, innovative, and ambitious framework, in particular in comparison to the former arrangements, but also in relation to the relatively modest experience of the EU as an international actor at the time. However, despite some progress, the Euro-Med partnership has been widely criticized for its one-size-fits-all policy - where economic development and co-operation trumped the political goals (Seeberg 2007:22). The European Neighbourhood Policy is more extensive in its geographical scope; it includes both the EU's eastern and southern neighbours in the same framework. Moreover, it also covers a large number of policy areas, integrating components from all three 'pillars' of the EU (European Commission 2004a): a more effective political dialogue; economic and social development policy; trade and internal market; justice and home affairs; energy; transport; environment; information and research; cultural dialogue; regional cooperation and last but not least commitment to shared values, notably, democracy, respect for human rights and the rule of law (European Commission 2003a:4). Obviously, the ENP is more than a democratisation policy, yet the value dimension is a salient part of the programme. This study is thus not an analysis of the ENP as a whole, but is confined to the promotion of democracy within the ENP framework.

The new security environment (post 9/11), the enlargement in 2004, as well as the new neighbourhood programme, have changed the EU's strategy towards the Mediterranean; turning it towards a greater emphasis on harmonisation with EU norms and standards (Emerson and Noutcheva 2005:8). Indeed, this move is not unique for the Mediterranean region, but the prominence of political objectives such as democracy and respect for human rights is more striking when it comes to the Mediterranean region, where such values usually have not been important within EU policies (Panebianco 2004; Smith 2005b:765; Youngs 2001). Stability in the Mediterranean is of strategic interest for the EU. In this regard, one would

¹ Turkey is still a partner state in the Euro-Mediterranean Partnership, but not in the Neighbourhood Policy.

² The other partner states are Belarus, Moldova, Ukraine, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia

expect the EU foreign policy, including its democratisations policies, towards the Mediterranean to focus on ensuring stability as well as maintaining friendly relations with the political authorities. As already noted, such objectives do not necessarily correspond with an emphasis on democratisation. This makes the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean an interesting case to study.

Theoretical and Methodological Considerations

The aim of this analysis is to examine the EU's emphasis on democracy promotion. In order to do so, I will analyse the arguments put forward by the EU on why this particular policy is important. The approach is based on Habermas' discourse theory and an underlying assumption that actors can be communicatively rational (Habermas 1993, 1996). Habermas emphasises the communicative process *between* individuals and not only the rationality as stemming solely from the individual itself (Eriksen og Weigård 1999:39). According to his theory of communicative action, actors are also rational when they are able to justify and explain their actions (Sjursen 2002:495). In order to analyse this particular policy, I use Habermas' analytical distinction between pragmatic, ethical-political, and moral arguments. This analytical framework has been further developed by Sjursen (2002) in her studies on the Eastern enlargement, and has later also been employed to study other features in EU foreign policy.⁴

The division between pragmatic discourse on the one hand and ethical and moral discourse on the other, reflect some of the differences between rational choice and social constructivism and touch upon the question of what are the driving forces in international politics. This is the starting point of a persistent debate in international relations and the encounter between rational choice and social constructivism illustrates the controversy behind this question. Rational choice based approaches have dominated the field of international relations. They are united by a set of core assumptions; all rational actors have clearly defined preferences based on interests and seek to maximise their own benefits. However, it is argued that action is not only driven by material interests and preferences, but also by identity, rules, and institutions (March and Olsen 1998:951). Furthermore, social constructivism emphasises how collective norms and understandings constitute the social identities of actors and define the rules of what is considered to be appropriate behaviour (Risse

³ This perspective has been employed by various other studies of international relation, se amongst others Diez and Stern 2005; Lerch and Schwellnus 2007; Müller 2001; Risse 2000; Sjursen 2002 and 2006.

⁴ Barbé and Johansson-Nogués 2008; Lerch and Scwellnus 2007; Riddervold 2008.

2000:5). According to this perspective, interests and identities are not something given, but are continuously created and recreated through social interaction. However, by applying Habermas' theory, this study makes a further analytical distinction between ethical and moral norms, hence, this theory takes the emphasis on norms a step further compared to the mainstream constructivist literature on international relations.

This study is conducted as a case study of the ENP's promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean region. Following the research questions, the unit of analysis is the EU. It is not the Mediterranean countries; and the aim is thus not to examine the political will, response, and effect in the Mediterranean partner countries. Moreover, the purpose is not to study the internal governance and decision-making processes within the EU, rather, it is a study of the policy that has been made. In order to answer the first research question I will empirically compare the methods, democracy agendas, and commitment of recourses of the ENP with the Euro-Med initiatives. The second research question will be approached through a systematic analysis of arguments used to legitimate the promotion of democracy in the southern Mediterranean. The three ideal-types of arguments; pragmatic, ethicalpolitical, and moral, will be systematically identified in a range of official EU documents, strategies, speeches and statements. The ENP is a young policy; the timeframe of the discourse analysis (Chapter 4 and 5) is hence confined to the initial period of the Neighbourhood Policy, from its outset in 2002, when it first reached the policy agenda, up until today, April 2008. The comparison between the ENP and the already existing EMP framework (Chapter 3) is based on data from the different features in the two frameworks EMP and ENP between 1995 and 2007.

Organisation of the Thesis

The thesis will be organised in six chapters, including the introduction. The next chapter (Chapter 2) will give an account of the theory and the methods chosen in this study. Chapter 3 will outline the promotion of democracy within the scope of the ENP in comparison with the previous initiatives within the EMP, in particular concerning the changes within three defining features: different methods, scopes of 'action', and the commitments and allocations of resources. In the two following chapters (Chapter 4 and 5), I will discuss how the emerging emphasis on democratic principles can be explained. Chapter 4 looks into pragmatic explanations, and I will ask to what extent democracy promotion is based on the EU's security and economic self-interests. In Chapter 5, potential normative explanations will be discussed. First by examining to what extent the democratisation policy is

Chapter 1 9

based on values – i.e. a sense of shared identity or community feeling, followed by an equivalent discussion on the role of universal norms or rights in promoting democracy. In the final chapter (Chapter 6), I will sum up my findings and discuss how the emphasis on democracy promotion in the Mediterranean can be accounted for in accordance with self-interests, values, and rights. Finally, I will assess how these insights can contribute to the debate of what characterises EU foreign policy.

Chapter 2

Theory and Methods

In order to study the European Union and its emphasis on promotion of democracy, this thesis is undertaken using qualitative methods based on an analytical discourse approach derived from Habermas' discourse theory (1993; 1996) and his differentiation between pragmatic, ethical-political, and moral discourses. As already noted, his theory has also been further developed and applied on EU policies by Helene Sjursen (2002). The discourse categories above will frame the analysis by applying the same distinction to arguments and thus separating interest-based, value-based, and right-based arguments to justify democracy promotion in the Mediterranean, adduced by the EU.

The approach applied is, essentially, founded on Habermas' theory of communicative action. In order to clarify the use of this particular discourse analysis, this chapter will firstly give an account of the concept of rationality, with emphasis on the ideas of communicative rationality and communicative action. Secondly, the use of discourse theory will be elaborated, in particular the differentiation between the three categories of arguments. In accordance with the theoretical assumptions of the different discourse categories, three hypotheses will then be proposed. Finally, the methodological challenges by studying arguments, with special attention to the validity and the reliability of the study, will be discussed and assessed.

Conceptions of Rationality

Determining what actually motivates action in international relations is, at best difficult, but generally, an impossible task. One cannot infer that a specific behaviour is associated with a specific motive. There is no way to 'look inside the head' of an actor, and find out what motivated this actor to behave in a certain way. This is why Morgenthau for instance, for methodological reasons decided to view motives as a constant variable while other variables like the variation in beliefs about power, would explain action

(Herrman 2006:120). For the same methodological reasons, rational choice approaches are built on the general assumption that actors are utility-oriented (Sjursen 2006:11). As these assumptions have been challenged, alternative conceptions of rationality have been launched. Derived from these various theoretical presumptions, this section presents three different conceptions of rationality – instrumental, contextual and communicative – and how they apply in relation to this discourse analysis.

The traditional assumptions of rationality are reflected within rational choice approaches, which, define rationality as instrumental. *Instrumental rationality* is based on the theoretical assumption that actors have a set of exogenously determined preferences, and they act on expectations of utility and efficiency (Reus-Smit in Adler 2006:112). Hence, it is the anticipated consequences of the available choices of action that are decisive for the outcome. However, preferences are taken as exogenous and fixed for analytical purposes: because constraints are easier to observe than preferences, change is explained by changing constraints rather than changing preferences (Snidal 2006:84).

Despite its firm position within international relations theory, the notion of instrumental rationality has been subjected to harsh criticism. First of all, its presumptions are accused of being too simplistic; actors don't have a set of stable, consistent, and exogenously given preferences, nor are actors omniscient; they are not capable of calculating all consequences of different courses of action (March and Olsen 1998:950). The limited cognitive capabilities of human beings have been taken into account by models of bounded rationality (Simon 1947; March 1978). Bounded rationality considers the limitations to pure instrumental reasoning, yet, other scholars emphasise that rationality is not necessarily instrumental at all.

Constructivism, in general, considers inter-subjective knowledge and ideas to shape our social reality (Adler 2006). In contrast to rational choice, constructivists reject the idea that human behaviour necessarily is utility-oriented. First of all, the roles of identity, rules, and institutions are emphasised, according to March and Olsen (1998:951): "[h]uman actors are imagined to follow rules that associate particular identities to particular situations, approaching individual opportunities for action by assessing similarities between concurrent identities and choice dilemmas and more general concepts of self and situations". They suggest that action can be

shaped by its appropriateness, rather than its consequences.⁵ Actors are then guided by logic of appropriateness, or a contextual rationality.⁶

Furthermore, Habermas dismisses both instrumental and contextual rationality as exhaustive models of rationality. He suggests a concept of *communicative rationality*, which in addition to expanding the rationality concept also includes important elements from the two former concepts (Eriksen and Weigård 2003:27–28). Habermas' notion of rationality is based on his *theory of communicative action*. One of his main points is the ability to reach a mutual understanding through the processes of communication or deliberation, as an additional mechanism to coordinate action (Eriksen og Weigård 1997:221). As Habermas (in Risse 2000:9) puts it:

I speak of communicative action when the action orientations of the participating actors are not coordinated via egocentric calculations of success, but through acts of understanding. Participants are not primarily oriented toward their own success in communicative action; they pursue their individual goals under the condition that they can coordinate their action plans on the basis of shared definitions of the situation.

In this manner, through the processes of communication, the actors seek to reach consensus on a matter, guided by the better argument and the validity of the claims. Thus, the notion of communicative rationality allows actors to be rational, not only by utility-maximisation and by appropriateness, but also when they are able to justify and explain their actions (Sjursen 2002:495). In this perspective there is an explicit emphasis on the role of language. By adducing speech acts in a successful communicative action, the actors are able to reach common understandings and agreements. The speech act depends on its validity, that an actor could adduce supporting reasons that would convince the other actors involved to accept it (Finlayson 2005:40-41). In this manner, by adding the conception of communicative rationality, the meaning of rationality is expanded even further.⁷

⁵ March and Olsen are known for their contributions on 'new institutionalism', not on constructivism.

⁶ More on contextual rationality, see for example Eriksen and Weigård (2003).

⁷ Although the theory of communicative action originally is related to individuals, it has also increasingly been applied to studies of international relations (See footnote 3).

The Theoretical Approach

According to Habermas (1993:8), the question "What should I do?" takes on different meanings depending on how a problem is conceived and what kinds of issues are at stake. Consequently, pragmatic action and justification is just one possible manner of behaviour. Ethical-political questions are justified in ethical discourses and justification and moral questions are rationally grounded in moral discourses (Habermas 1996:160-162). The discourse theory makes a clear distinction between these three categories. This will be further elaborated in the next sections.

Pragmatic, Ethical-political, and Moral Arguments

In short, by using pragmatic arguments, the speaker relates the arguments to the expected consequences of that action. Hence, pragmatic argumentation is based on a purposive or instrumental rationality. As phrased by Habermas (1993:2): such pragmatic reasoning is used when "we look for reasons for rational choice between different available courses of action in light of a task that we *must* accomplish if we *want* to achieve a certain goal". Pragmatic questions are rationally justified by arguments grounded in the empirical knowledge of given preferences and ends. Based on the available knowledge, the consequences of the alternative choices of action are then assessed according to previously accepted maxims or decision rules (Habermas 1996: 159–160). Thus, pragmatic discourse justifies the chosen policy or action by expectations of utility.

Ethical-political arguments refer to reasoning guided by rules, identity, and collective values, rather than outcome. Such argumentation relies on a particular conception of the collective 'us', within a specific community (Sjursen 2002:494). This way, because ethical values are binding only within a specific group, an ethical-political discourse is characterised by a relative validity. A cultural group maintains and reproduces its common character by shaping the members who grow up within it and are socialised into it. Hence, ethical values of one group have, in principle, no validity elsewhere (Finlayson 2005:95-96). In this perspective the rationality of an actor is related to the context of a specific community, a contextual rationality, which has much in common with the concept of logic of appropriateness discussed above. Based on ethical-political argumentation, action would then be justified by relating to shared values. This category is therefore also referred to as value-based argumentation.

15

The last category is also related to norms. But moral argumentation, in contrast to ethical-political arguments, refers to universal norms. In order to clarify what is meant by the term universal norms, the theory emphasises that a norm must pass the test of practical discourse in a free and open debate between all affected parties, to be considered universally valid: "A norm, in short, is just if it is accepted to all that are potentially affected by it in a rational debate" (Eriksen 1999:232-233). To quote Habermas (1996:161): "Moral precepts have the semantic form of categorical or unconditional imperatives". The imperative meaning can be understood as an 'ought' in the sense that the corresponding action grounded in justice; universal standards, norms, and principles, are accepted by everyone, everywhere. This indicates that such norms are treated as universally right to all people, the term right-based argument will therefore also be used. Importantly, moral argumentation is only made possible by deliberation and communicative rationality.

To summarise, in order to identify the different kinds of arguments, each category of arguments is related to a defining criterion: 'utility', 'values', or 'rights'. Pragmatic arguments are identified by 'utility', ethical-political arguments by 'values' and moral arguments by 'rights' (Sjursen 2002:495).

What Added Value?

What analytical contributions do this particular theoretical framework has to offer? Firstly, the theory of communicative action opens up the traditional assumptions of rationality, this way by referring to the processes of communication and the validity of arguments, it can explain not only why actors sometimes change their view points and preferences, but it can also explain why actors may choose to act contrary to their material self-interests (Sjursen 2006:8). Secondly, Habermas' theory emphasises the role of norms. In contrast to rational choice perspectives, this approach considers norms to influence and give grounds for political action, hence, it allows our understanding of political processes to be expanded beyond utility consideration (Siursen 2002:496). Finally, and perhaps most importantly, Habermas' discourse theory specifies and differentiates between norms. By separating between values and rights, a whole new dimension is added to the analysis, which can contribute to broaden our understanding of political action (ibid). Although there is a strong focus on norms within the constructivist IR literature, the differentiation between types of norms and where they apply are rarely discussed. The distinction between ethicalpolitical and moral arguments might therefore seem somewhat unclear at first. There is however a sharp distinction: an ethical-political argument is derived from values connected to a specific community, it is relative and conditional

in its nature and thus changing according to context, whereas moral arguments are based upon universal norms accepted by all, consequently, norms are absolute and unconditional. (Finlayson 2005:92-96).

The relations between self-interests and ethics are core issues pertinent to the study of democracy promotion. Thus this framework appears to be particular useful to explain a policy that, at first, based on conventional assumptions, seems somewhat contradictory. It is therefore assumed that, by taking values and rights into account, a more complete and reliable explanation can be provided. Moreover, the differentiation between values and rights capture the variation in arguments to a larger extent and can therefore reveal a more precise pattern of the EU's justifications and thereby offer a better understanding of what the EU ascribe to its policies.

Hypotheses

There are a number of plausible explanations to EU's democracy promotion. From the outset, due to the high strategic importance of the Mediterranean for the EU, it seems prima facie that any strategy in this region will be based on EU self-interests – increased security, potential economic gains and so on. There are in general a number of potential interest-based reasons to promote democracy in other states. From the belief that it democratic states make better partners (Light 2001:84) to explanations associating democracy with peace and increased home security (ibid:75). Moreover, the interaction between democracy and economic development relates economic interests, such as investment and trade, to democracy promotion as well (ibid:76). However, as previously discussed, certain aspects indicate that promotion of democracy is not all about self-interests and utility considerations. Democratic transitions in authoritarian regimes are often far from peaceful – in fact in a transitional phase "countries become more aggressive and war-prone, not less" (Mansfield and Snyder 1995:5). In addition, regardless of the virtues of democracy in terms of stability, the promotion of political liberalisation in the Mediterranean can cause tensions and destabilise counter-reactions towards the West and the EU. This indicates that democratisation is perhaps not an obvious strategy to ensure stability, security, and economic interests, at least not on a short term basis. Moreover, democratisation is time and resource consuming. Taking into account all the risks and costs involved in a democratisation strategy, it makes sense to look beyond benefits and interest considerations and search for other explanations for the EU's emphasis on democracy promotion.

The Mediterranean countries are situated in the direct neighbourhood of the EU, and some Member States, in particular in southern Europe, have long traditions of interaction with the Mediterranean countries. It is not unlikely that some sense of community has developed, due to shared cultural and historical heritage. If so, shared values and culture could entail a special duty for the EU to assist democracy in these specific countries. Hence, this suggests that value-based explanations may also account for the emphasis to promote democracy. Another explanation may be the nature of democracy itself and the belief that democracy simply is a good system of governance, indicating moral considerations to emphasise democratisation policies. Based on the discourse categories and the discussion above, three hypotheses are formulated as follows:

First hypothesis: The European Union emphasises the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean countries in order to enhance its own security and increase its own economic benefits.

Second hypothesis: The European Union emphasises the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean countries because of a sense of value-based duty founded on a special historical and cultural relationship between Europe and the Mediterranean.

Third hypothesis: The European Union emphasises the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean countries because of a sense of moral duty to promote democracy as a universal principle, regardless of cultural context.

The next question is how to examine which of these hypotheses have empirical support. To clarify this point, the following sections will present and discuss the operationalisation of the categories and choice of methodology.

Research Methodology

Interests, values, and norms are present in all modern states, the variation lies in what kind, how and to what extent they are present. How then, are interests, norms, and values emphasised in regards to promote democracy support in third countries by the EU? In order to explain the efforts to promote democracy in the Mediterranean region, the question above will be answered by a systematic examination of the arguments and justifications used to pursue this particular policy. This will be done by first; identifying these arguments in relation to (1) particular *self-interests* or *utility*, (2) common *values* or (3) universal *norms* or *rights*, and second; by examining the relative importance of each of the categories. These are analytical categories, meaning

that they are ideal-types of arguments. By isolating the types of arguments it makes it possible to distinguish between pragmatic, ethical-political, and moral arguments. Argumentation with reference to self-interests indicates that the EU promotes democracy to enhance its own position, in accordance with the traditional assumptions of foreign policy. However, arguments relating to values and norms suggest that the EU's external policy is driven by something more, beyond the traditional assumptions, which entails a certain normative dimension. The balance of the various justifications may indicate in which direction the EU as an international actor inclines: towards the traditional image of a utility-oriented actor or towards a novel kind of normative actor.

Operationalisation of the Concepts

This section will outline how the different categories of arguments will be operationalised. It is organised by separating between justification through utility, values, and rights, according to the defining criteria of the three categories. The conception of security demands some special attention and will be discussed in particular in the first paragraph.

Justification through Utility

Pragmatic argumentation is related to the expected utility in accordance with the preferences, self-interests, and goals of the EU. In the context of this analysis, such arguments are expected to refer to potential economic gains and enhanced security for EU. This section will clarify which indicators categorise an argument as pragmatic.

Enhanced Security

The post Cold War environment created a new and different security agenda in Europe. Looking beyond the traditional confines of security policy, the European Union has called for a more comprehensive approach by the integration of a range of external policies to address different dimensions of security (Bishop 2004:32). The European Security Strategy (ESS) of 2003 recognises the interdependence between various security dimensions – political, socio–economical, ecologic, cultural, and military. Furthermore, the need to address risks and threats with a range of policies and instruments and operate through dialogue, cooperation, partnership, and institutionalized, rule-based multilateralism have been acknowledged (ibid:34). This is neither the only, nor the most common, understanding of security. As stated by Barry Buzan (in Lipschutz 1995:7): security is an essentially contested concept. The traditional understanding of security is in essence defined by territorial security, survival of the state is the highest end, and military defence is the main instrument.

In order to use security as an analytical concept, it is necessary to differentiate between the various understandings of it. Firstly, security is related to the survival of the state (or the entity) which calls for the traditional interestbased conception of security. Secondly, security can be related to a common good between two or more actors, this can be specified as a security community, which implies a sense of we-feeling. Thirdly, security is also related to peace, a common good which is independent from self-interests of any particular actor (Riddervold 2002:24). This division between selfinterests, security community, and universal goods, is used as an analytical distinction to this analysis. Security as a self-interest refers to security and stability for the EU's citizens and territory. Therefore, arguments that are related to external or internal security for Europe will be accounted for as pragmatic argumentation; this includes threats and risks such as internal instability, regional conflicts, terrorism, illegal migration, human trafficking, drug trafficking, international crime, and proliferation of weapons of mass destruction. Arguments related to a sense of security community or wefeeling, relates to ethical-political reasoning. And finally, security in a wider sense, meaning security for all, will be categorised as a universal good, and therefore as a moral argument. This implies that arguments with reference to peace for all will qualify as moral arguments.

Economic Gains

The Mediterranean region is diverse, also in relation to economic development. It is likely that the EU will argue in favour of democratic development by reference to the establishment of new markets. Hence, new markets for export of the EU's goods and services can account as arguments for democracy promotion. There is already a large economic activity going on between the EU and the Mediterranean countries, but there is still a great potential for expansion. The most important commodity is the energy supply from a number of North African states to the EU. Energy security has become a buzz word in Europe; the big question is how Europe can secure its growing demand for energy. This has become even more important after encounters with Russia, the EU has realised that it cannot rely solely on one unstable energy supplier. This makes the energy supplies from the North African countries, in particular Algeria, the third largest gas supplier to Europe, increasingly important. The great demand for energy would suggest that the EU would be careful to jeopardize the relationship with the authorities of the supplier countries, and this is relevant in terms of promoting democracy in these countries, because it could account for arguments on not to push too hard on democratic change. On the other hand, arguments might follow the opposite logic and justify democratic support by expectations of a

more stable energy supply. In sum, arguments based on economic utility are expected to refer to new markets, enhanced investment climate or other economic gains for the EU.

Justification through Values

Ethical-political arguments refer to particular values that are perceived as defining for the EU. Such arguments are founded on a sense of particular duty or responsibility to act based on ideas of shared culture, history, identity, or some sort of belonging or sense of community, and will hence serve as indicators for categorisation of ethical-political arguments.

Europe and the Mediterranean region are neighbours; the geographical proximity has created many historical and cultural ties and other points of contact for centuries. There are in particular two important dimensions, the first is the colonial history shared by the European and Mediterranean countries. The decolonization process is still part of our recent history, and has left both Europe and the Mediterranean with a diverse legacy. Europe's illegitimate interventions during the colonial periods can be considered a basis for a particular responsibility for making up, through for example promotion of democracy, for its misuse of authority. Secondly, there is the cultural dimension in relation to history and religion. The Mediterranean region is the religious junction and birth place of Christianity, as well as Islam and Judaism. In this context, due to this shared cultural and historical legacy, political-ethical arguments are categorised by indicators based on the duty to act based on this common legacy.

Justification through Rights

Moral arguments are identified by references to universal norms that are accepted by everyone, or benefits that will gain everyone. Such universal principles are for example peace, democracy (as a value in itself) and human rights. Moreover, as discussed above, I have made an analytical distinction regarding security. Arguments that refer to security for all, for example human security as a universal principle will be regarded as moral arguments. Finally, if the promotion of democracy is justified by the virtues of democratic principles, it will be accounted for as a moral argument.

There are several important methodological aspects to this analysis of arguments. Before I move on to the discussion of validity and reliability and the main assessments of the quality of the research, I will lay down some of the basic theoretical assumptions that are relevant for such a methodological evaluation.

Analysing Arguments

The theoretical framework applied has an explicit emphasis on language. The discourse theory views 'speech acts' as the main action-coordinating mechanism between actors, it is the 'speech acts' that "forces people to take other speakers, hearers, and agents and their reasons into consideration" (Finlayson 2005:60). Hence, as the central theoretical element, the 'speech acts' are also the main elements of this analysis. The approach presupposes that to reach an agreement on a policy, the actors involved must be committed to the validity of the arguments presented to support this policy, the reasons given must therefore be considered as legitimate (Sjursen 2006:8).

By explaining action, in a Weberian manner, meaning 'explanation through interpretation' (Weber in Sjursen 2002:493), this study employs an alternative use of causal explanation, in the sense that reasons as 'mobilizing arguments' are prior to action. As pointed out by Sjursen (2002:493): "it is not possible to understand the causal mechanisms in a social setting without looking at the reasons that actors give for their actions". This is also supported by Kratochwil (1989:24): "[m]eaningful action is created by placing action within an intersubjectively understood context". Moreover, he adds that, "to have 'explained' an action often means to have made intelligible the goals for which it was undertaken" (ibid). As suggested by Sjursen and Kratochwil, the reasons given by the actors to pursue a policy, in this case promotion of democracy, are made central to understand the policy, with emphasis on how these reasons are justified for and thereby made legitimate.

The Requirement of Consistency

There is no guarantee that the justification in the arguments actually reflects the true *motive* of the actor. As Lerch and Schwellnus point out: "a rhetorically rational actor might use value- or rights-based arguments for purely instrumental reasons" and contrarily "an actor with strong normative reasons for promoting a policy might resort to utility-based arguments to persuade someone who does not share her conviction" (2007:139). As previously discussed, even if one cannot reach the true motives of an actor, one can reach the reasons and justifications provided. But how can one assess the truthfulness of the reasons and justifications?

First of all, an analysis of arguments makes sense only if the actors involved have not been forced to make certain decisions. It is an essential assumption that the argument provided is neither imposed lies, nor products of a hidden agenda. But how do we know? To start with, the nature of the EU, as an organisation bound by legal rules, makes it unlikely that the common

positions and policies are reached through the use of force or violence. Secondly, it is in general extremely difficult for actors to deliberately and consistently lie over a longer period of time. Another critical allegation is that the truthfulness of arguments is endangered by a merely strategic use of arguments. That means, in order to conceal true preferences or objectives, the speaker will intentionally try to deceive its audience with false arguments. As pointed out by Elster, in strategically motivated communication, arguments simply become means to reach predefined goals (Eriksen and Weigård 2003:38). On the other hand, in the presence of an audience, a speaker will be held responsible for consistency between what is said and what is done. In particular, in democratic societies actors engaged in strategic argumentation will be vulnerable for exposure.

To manage these challenges, any analysis of arguments must meet some basic requirements of consistency. First, the credibility of the arguments can to some extent be controlled by examining the consistency of the arguments made over time. Secondly, by examining the consistency between what is said and what is done, one can control that the arguments correspond with the agenda behind it (Sjursen 2002:495-496). And third, one can verify the consistency of the arguments presented in different settings, before different audiences. As stated by Risse (2000:18): "[a]ctors changing their arguments depending on the audience with which they are dealing probably engage in rhetorical behaviour".

To comply with these requirements, this analysis will rest on both a broad data material and a sufficient timeframe. By ensuring a large number of arguments, provided at different points in time and from different settings between 2002 and 2008, I find it adequate to assess the consistency of arguments over time. Due to the recent outset of the policy, it is not possible to control for consistency between the plans and the actual implementation of the policy, but I will control to what extent the political agenda and discourse match the corresponding instruments and budgets.

Validity and Reliability of the Study

Finally some assessments of the main criteria for judging the overall quality of the study: reliability and validity. The validity of the study refers to the consistency between the given object of the study and what is actually studied. Hence, the relationship between the theory and the subsequent operationalisation of the theoretical concepts is essential for the validity. This link between concepts and observations is known as measurement validity

(Adcock and Collier 2001:529).⁸ How the concepts are operationalised decisive for the accuracy of the gathering of data, which then makes it essential for the reliability of the study. It is therefore of great importance that the operationalisation is done in a clear and precise manner (Hellevik 2002:52). The operationalisation made in this study is carefully done in accordance with the discourse theory; the analytical concepts are thoroughly prepared and explained to comply with the validity requirements.

As remarked above, reliability is concerned with the accuracy of the analysis. This means that all the operations made throughout the analysis must be performed with a high level of accuracy (Hellevik 2002:183). As formulated by Yin (2003:37): "The goal of reliability is to minimize the errors and biases in a study". Inter-subjectivity and intra-subjectivity are measures for the reliability of a study. I will not perform any reliability tests, but I will give a thorough account of all the steps and choices made during the study; how the documents, statements and speeches are read, and further how the arguments are picked out and finally how they are interpreted and sorted in different categories according to the operationalisation. This will make it possible for a reader to assess the accuracy of the study.

Research Design

This study applies a case-study research design. The case is the ENP's promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean region. Robert Yin claims that "the distinctive need for case studies arises out of the desire to understand complex social phenomena" (2003:2). The case study is thought to contribute in that exact manner; it seeks to better understand the complexity of the EU's promotion of democracy. The case is selected for two main reasons: first, to illustrate that international actors' behaviour are more compound than assumed by the traditional rational choice theories, indicating that there is need for more complex analytical frameworks, in particular taking norms and values into account; and secondly, because they, due to the normative character of the promotion of democracy, may serve as critical cases to the existing literature on the EU as a normative power. The main research question and the hypotheses are developed on the basis of existing knowledge on political behaviour, hence, giving the study a deductive character: the empirical evidence will either be in support of the theoretical assumptions or not, and thereby it will strengthen or weaken the respective theories (Hellevik 2002:81). As stated by Yin (ibid:41), critical cases are selected to test a significant theory, in this regard one might say that this case study is

⁸ Also known as *construct validity*, for example by Yin 2003.

suited to test both the rational choice theories, and the normative power Europe literature.

Indeed, there are limits to the case study strategy, as with any other research design. The two main objections against the use of case study designs are traditionally related to its lack of rigor and its weak basis for generalisation. The answers provided by advocates are; first, as in any other research strategies – sloppiness is not accepted – all evidences must be fairly accounted for; and secondly, case studies are, as phrased by Yin: "generalizable to theoretical propositions and not to populations or universes" (ibid:10).

Selection of Data

In order to examine how policies are legitimised and explained in public, the official documents relating to the Neighbourhood Policy will be the main source of the analysis. All official EU documents concerned with the ENP are included. Official ENP documents are understood as: Council resolutions and statements; Commission strategies, reports and evaluations; reports and evaluations from the European Parliament; speeches and statements by core actors, and all ENP strategy and programming documents. All these documents are accessible from the EU websites, the majority from the ENP website.

In Chapter 3, where I compare the democracy promotion of the ENP with the prior Euro-Med framework, a selection of data from the period from 1995 up until 2007 is examined. Primarily official agreements and strategy papers produced by the European Commission and Council: From the Euro-Med Partnership: The Barcelona Declaration, Association Agreements, MEDA Regulations, Country Strategy Papers, National Indicative Programmes. From the ENP, accordingly: ENP Strategy Paper, Country Reports, Action Plans, Country Strategy Papers and National Indicative Programmes and ENPI regulations. I have used this data material to gather information on methods, action priorities and resource allocations in the two programmes. In addition I have used some secondary literature.

In the second part of the study, Chapter 4 and 5, the data material is more diverse. I have systematically been through all official EU documents concerned with the Neighbourhood Policy in the period 2002–2008 (April) in search for justifications and arguments for promoting democracy. This includes: Relevant speeches and statements by Commissioners (DG External Affairs, DG Trade, DG Enlargement and DG Energy), High Representative Javier Solana, President of the European Commission José Manuel Barroso,

and former President Romano Prodi; European Commission Communications related to the ENP and Partnership documents listed above; European Council Reports such as Euro-Med Reports from 2004 onward, Report on EU Strategic Partnership with the Mediterranean and the Middle East, Declaration on combating terrorism, Reports from Council meetings and Presidency Conclusions concerned with ENP; European Parliament Reports concerned with ENP.

How have I categorised the different arguments? To start with all the relevant documents were screened and sections with justifications and arguments on democracy promotion were marked. In the next reading these statement was taken out and categorised in first three categories 'utility', 'value', and 'rights', then further separated into 'economic utility' and 'security utility' and so on. Some arguments were also categorised as 'compound', containing more than one type of argument. When all arguments were listed, I went through them again to estimate which ones were most frequently used. In this process, there is clearly an element of judgement and interpretation. Finally, I picked out a selection of statements to illustrate the different types of arguments, which then have been used in the present analysis.

Chapter 3

What Policy Changes?

The first contractual relations between the EU and the Mediterranean countries were established through so-called Cooperation Agreements. These agreements were solely based on economic, technical, financial co-operation, and trade, without any references to democracy, rule of law, or human rights (See for example European Community-Egypt 1979). The Euro-Mediterranean Partnership initiated in 1995 at the Barcelona Conference was the first co-operation act between the EU and the Mediterranean countries which also focused on common norms and values. However, twelve years later it is obvious that the attention to a large extent remained on economic and financial matters (Gillespie 2006; Pace 2007; Seeberg 2007; Youngs 2005). The European Neighbourhood Policy, launched almost a decade after Barcelona, complemented and reinforced the bilateral relationship between the EU and the Mediterranean countries. The European Commission has given political reforms, democracy, and rule of law a particularly prominent role in the new programme, and a lot of attention has been given to the ENP as the EU's newest democratisation tool. However, these statements provided by the Commission should not be taken at face value and must therefore be examined more closely. Has the ENP given democracy promotion a more salient position in the Mediterranean region?

The purpose of this chapter is to establish the basis of the rest of the analysis, presented in Chapter 4 and 5. By providing a historical and empirical review of the EU's promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean, I will determine to what extent the ENP represents a shift towards a stronger emphasis on democracy in the Mediterranean – and thereby offer a preliminary answer to the first research question. The chapter is structured as follows: First, I will provide a short introduction to the EU's democracy promotion in general and in the Mediterranean. Then, in order to document the actual policy

changes, I will look into three defining features of the democratisation initiatives of the EMP and ENP frameworks: the different methods, the scopes of 'actions', and the commitment of resources related to democracy promotion.

I argue that although the main objectives of the two strategies in fact are quite similar, the means of how to achieve the objectives, i.e. the methods and resources, have changed. By applying a stronger focus on differentiation, joint ownership, benchmarking, and incentives, the ENP is methodologically more similar to the enlargement policy than the Euro-Med. Moreover, the commitment of resources has been increased and the range of 'actions' related to democracy promotion extended. To what extent these efforts to enhance the promotion of democracy will contribute to democratise the Mediterranean countries is widely debated and criticized. However, the intention is not to address the prospects of democratic development following the various programmes. My argument is rather that these policy changes do reflect the EU's growing emphasis on democracy promotion in the Mediterranean rim.

Democracy Promotion – A Review

How to Define Democracy and Promotion of Democracy Before turning to EU's democracy promotion in the Mediterranean, it is necessary to define how the concept is conceived of in this study. This is particularly important with an ambiguous concept such as democracy promotion. As stated by Peter Burnell (2005:362): not only is the range of the political strategies for promoting democracy extensive, democratisation itself is "a heavily contested and value-laden idea". For instance, some would define it in purely political terms, whereas others would include social and economic processes as well (ibid.). I will apply the definition of international democracy promotion as it is proposed by van Hüllen and Stahn (2007), namely:

"An external actor's explicit attempt to directly establish or advance democracy as a regime type in a target country".

By applying this definition to the study, I delimit the scope of democracy promotion to the direct instruments in the political sphere – i.e. political reforms and dialogues in the areas of democracy, human rights, and rule of law. This is not to rule out the importance of bringing about social and economic reforms in the process of democratic development, but rather to

capture the changes in the EU's democracy strategy towards the Mediterranean, where economic and social support traditionally has been prioritised over political reforms.

Democracy is also a concept of great variation and discord. The EU itself prefers to use 'democratic principles' rather than 'democracy' in its relations with third states. This is done to emphasise "the universally recognised principles that must underpin the organisation of the State and guarantee the enjoyment of rights and fundamental freedoms, while leaving each country and society free to choose and develop its own model" (European Commission 1998:5). With this perception of democracy, human rights are regarded as a defining part of whatever democratic model that is adopted (ibid.). The democratic principles are further characterised by three main elements: legitimacy, legality, and effective application. The associated term good governance is on the other hand more broadly applied, referring to the management of public affairs in a "transparent, accountable, participative and equitable manner showing due regard for human rights and the rule of law" (ibid:79) in both the political, economic, and social spheres of governance.

The definitions of democracy are numerous. In this study, I rely on a so-called minimalistic definition of democracy which by Robert Dahl characterises as "extensive competition for power through regular free and fair elections; highly inclusive citizenship conferring rights of participation on virtually all adults and extensive political liberties to allow for pluralism of information and organization" as the minimum criteria for democracy (Dahl 1971:20). Based on this definition, I include references to human rights and good governance within the political and judicial sphere to the concept of democracy.

The Normative and Legal Basis

The promotion of values has through the 1990s increasingly influenced relations between the EU and third countries. A turning point came with the 1991 Luxembourg Declaration, where the European Council stated that concerns for human rights and fundamental freedoms "cannot be considered as interference in the internal affairs of a state, and constitute an important and legitimate part of their dialogue with third countries" (in Balfour 2006:116). This statement is considered to be a stepping stone in the process

⁹ These definitions were initially developed for relations with the African, Caribbean and Pacific countries. The Development Council has decided that the definitions are applicable for all developing countries (Smith 2003:132).

of establishing the EU as a promoter of norms and values. The legal basis came in place with the Treaty of the European Union (TEU) in 1992. In the Provisions on a Common Foreign and Security Policy it is explicitly stated that "to develop and consolidate democracy and the rule of law, and respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms" (TEU, Title V, Art. 11) is one of the Union's foreign policy objectives.

The very first initiatives on promoting democracy were operated through development aid. At the outset, all aid for democracy and human rights was managed through different regional strategies by the Commission. The European Initiative for Democracy and Human Rights (EIDHR)¹⁰, created in 1994, was the first overall framework for development aid to strengthen democracy and human rights with a global reach. The EIDHR manages the EU aid mainly through a grassroots' approach, in partnerships with different NGOs and international organisations, in general without involving the national governments at all (Balfour 2006:118, Börzel and Risse 2007:17). The Mediterranean countries have also been targeted by the EIDHR, yet at different times and with different strength. In the course of the 1990s, the principles of democracy and human rights were also incorporated into the more extensive regional programmes, such as PHARE for the Eastern European accession states and TACIS for Russia and Central Asian states, and in the case of the Mediterranean, the corresponding framework came in place through the Barcelona process.

The First Steps: The Barcelona Process

The Euro-Mediterranean Partnership was the first regional framework for relations between the EU and the Mediterranean partner countries. It was created through the Barcelona process in 1995 and resulted in a Declaration and Work Programme. The Barcelona Declaration is an executive agreement covering the general principles and common objectives of the partnership (Phillipart 2003:1). The agreement encompasses three areas of cooperation; a political and security partnership; an economic and financial partnership and a cultural dialogue (European Commission 1995). Within the scope of the political and security partnership, establishing a common area of peace and stability, was the main objective. Furthermore, all parties agreed to undertake the declaration based on the principles of human rights, fundamental freedoms, and to "develop the rule of law and democracy in their political systems" (ibid.), yet also recognizing the "right of each of them to choose and freely develop its own political, socio-cultural, economic and judicial system". The

¹⁰ EIDHR was renamed in 2006 into European Instrument for Democracy and Human Rights

institutional set-up of EMP consists of a bilateral and a regional dimension. In the regional dimension, a regional Work Programme is managed by the Euro-Mediterranean Conference of Ministers of Foreign Affairs and by the Euro-Med Committee, both chaired by the EU Presidency. There is also a political and security dialogue held to deal with the first dimension of the partnership. The bilateral relationships are constituted in a network of Association Agreements (AA).¹¹ The legally binding AAs reiterate the parties' commitments to "democratic principles and fundamental human rights established by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights" (see for example European Community–Algeria 2005:Art.2). So far (2008), these agreements have entered into force with all partner countries but Syria.¹²

In addition to the multilateral and bilateral levels, there was also a unilateral EU funding mechanism in place for the implementation of the EMP known as the MEDA programmes. The MEDA I and II covered the period 1995–2000 and the 2000-2006, respectively. The first phase operated on the basis of three-year indicative programming papers. A regulation in 2000 changed the operating structure, the second MEDA phase was therefore structured in long-term, medium-term, and annual plans.

Of the three elements of the EMP, the politically binding Barcelona Declaration and the legally binding AAs remain in force today; coexisting with the ENP framework in the Mediterranean. The MEDA regulations were, as of 2007, replaced with a new funding mechanism the European Neighbourhood Policy Instrument (ENPI).

The New Framework: the European Neighbourhood Policy The Eastern enlargement gave impetus for the EU to strengthen its relations with countries on the new external border. Initially, the 'Wider Europe' idea was intended only for its closest eastern neighbours: Belarus, Moldova and Ukraine. However, the southern member states expressed their concerns of excluding the southern neighbours in a new initiative, which resulted in a geographical expansion and later the new title European Neighbourhood Policy (Emerson and Noutcheva 2005:7). Hence, the ENP is geographically much wider than all its predecessors; it covers both the eastern and the southern neighbour states, with the determination to "avoid drawing new

¹¹ The Association Agreements replaced all existing Co-operation Agreement.

 $^{^{12}}$ The negotiations between Syria and the EU are completed, but the EU has chosen not to sign, due to the political circumstances in the country (European Commission 2008a).

dividing lines in Europe and to promote stability and prosperity within and beyond the new borders of the Union" (European Commission 2003a:4). In Romano Prodi's words: "The aim is to extend to this neighbouring region a set of principles, values and standards which define the very essence of the European Union", in other words "sharing everything with the Union but institutions" (Prodi 2002b).

Initially, the ENP was conceived of the DG Enlargement. The Wider Europe Task Force was established in July 2003 and placed under the Enlargement Commissioner Günter Verhaugen. The appointment of the Barroso Commission in November 2004 transferred the initiative to DG External Relations and Neighbourhood Policy, headed by Commissioner Benita Ferrero-Waldner (Magen 2006:397). As previously mentioned, the ENP does not replace but complements the existing frameworks and agreements in the Mediterranean. In fact, the ENP will be implemented through the Barcelona Process and the Association Agreements with each partner country in the region (European Commission 2004a:6). In other words, from 2003 and onwards, the two initiatives and their objectives must be viewed as complementary to each other. The institutional set-up of the ENP is reduced to bilateral and unilateral levels, leaving the regional dimension to the existing Euro-Med cooperation.¹³ The main instrument in the new framework is the Action Plan (AP), bilaterally made for each country. So far, the APs are in place with all partner countries in the Mediterranean, except for Syria and Algeria. 14. As of 2007, the financial MEDA programmes were replaced by the ENPI. The ENPI is quite similar to the previous arrangements, constituted by Country Strategy Papers (CSPs) and National Indicative Programmes (NIPs) for each partner country.

Strategies in Comparison

To what extent has the ENP strengthened the emphasis on democracy in Mediterranean? An important backdrop to the changes brought about by the ENP is the level of cooperation; whereas the Euro-Med was mainly regional, the ENP is primarily bilateral. Thus, I will first address these basic changes in framework and partnership. Then, in order to compare the ENP with the previous programme, with regards to *methods*, *scopes of 'actions'*, and *commitment of resources*. Firstly, methodologically the ENP relies to a further

¹³ The ENP Strategy Paper confirms that the regional component is important and refers to the Euro-Mediterranean Partnership.

¹⁴ Syria is not eligible for the ENP as long as the AA is not signed. The AA with Algeria has been in force since 2005, but the parties have not yet agreed on an AP.

extent on the principles of differentiation, joint ownership, and benchmarking in relations with its partners. And the usage of conditionality has moved from negative measures towards positive. Secondly, the agendas related to democracy promotion have been extended and thirdly, the commitments of resources have increased. I suggest that these changes indicate a more efficient policy with a stronger emphasis on democracy. Whereas the Euro-Med Partnership represents an incipient phase to promote democracy in the Mediterranean, the ENP programme takes it a step further and presents a more comprehensive democratisation framework, although still far from flawless.

What Level of Democracy Promotion?

Although the Euro-Med Partnership contained both a bilateral and a regional dimension, the regional partnership was more developed and prominent than the bilateral agreements. The regional dimension is toned down in the new framework, giving the bilateral dimension salience.¹⁵ Hence, the introduction of the ENP represents a shift from regional to bilateral as the main level of cooperation. This prominence of the bilateral partnerships in the new framework has made way for some new opportunities in regards to the promotion of democracy.

In general, the EU employs both diplomatic and financial instruments to assist democratisation. The use of diplomatic instruments includes unilateral instruments such as declarations and demarches; bilateral or multilateral instruments such as dialogues and negotiations and different kinds of conditionality. The EU applies all these instruments in the Mediterranean. Notably, both the Euro-Med and the ENP are partnerships, hence, dialogues and negotiations are the backbones of both frameworks. Yet, the bilateral nature of the ENP has obviously emphasised the bilateral dialogues and thereby enabled a stronger focus on principles of differentiation, coownership, and benchmarking (European Commission 2004a). conviction that dialogues should be one of the main instruments for change is highly recognised by the Commission: "The most effective way of achieving change is [...] a positive and constructive partnership with governments, based on dialogue, support and encouragement" (European Commission 2001a:8). Through this emphasis on dialogues, the EU employs a persuasive kind of measures instead of coercive (Smith 2003:140). Nevertheless, the unilateral

¹⁵ Despite its bilateral nature, the ENP emphasises the importance of regional and sub-regional co-operation in the Mediterranean, which will be guided by the bilateral Action Plans and the existing Euro-Med framework.

dimension is also an important feature of the ENP, as it was in the Euro-Med. A majority of the documents managing the Neighbourhood Policy is unilaterally made, including the ENP Strategy Paper, the Country Reports, the CSPs, the NIPs and ENPI and the former MEDA programmes. However, there are changes in regards to both methods, scopes of 'action', and commitment of resources within the two new instruments: the Action Plans and the ENPI.

Methods

Prior to the ENP the bilateral dimension was regulated by the legal Association Agreements. The agreements referred to the commitment to common values, but did not specify how to materialise these commitments any further. The strategies were left to the MEDA programme. The Action Plans, now layered on top of the AAs, introduce several new methodological features to the bilateral partnerships: differentiation, joint ownership, benchmarking, and incentives. The financial instrument of the ENPI is indeed more similar to the previous MEDA programme, but in contrast to MEDA, the ENPI also emphasises incentives over negative conditionality. First, I will outline the characteristics of the Action Plans, and then the use of conditionality in closer detail.

The Action Plans: Differentiation, Joint Ownership, and Benchmarking

The Action Plans present the general overviews of strategic objectives in the partner countries and constitute "an initial step towards realising the vision set out [by the EU]" (European Commission 2004c:3). The AP entail, among other things, the priorities to strengthen the commitments to shared values, such as democracy, rule of law and human rights (European Commission 2004a:13). Although the APs are based on common principles, they are designed to meet the specific needs and capacities of each partner country. In other words, the plans are based on a differentiated approach. As phrased by the Council: "Such action plans should be based on common principles but be differentiated, as appropriate, taking into account the specificities of each neighbour, its national reform processes and its relations with the EU" (European Council 2004b). This is clearly a reaction to the one-size-fits-all criticism subjected to the Barcelona Process, and it is emphasised accordingly: "Our strategy for the Mediterranean and the Middle East in particular is not a 'one-size fits all' policy, but on the contrary a tailor-made, targeted approach" (Ferrero-Waldner 2006c). Del Sarto and Schumacher suggest that "a differentiated approach allows a far greater opportunity for the EU to exert political and economic influence in the Mediterranean" (2005:28) - which could contribute to make the policy more efficient.

Another important characteristic is the way the APs are made. The starting point is the Country Reports which are unilaterally prepared by the Commission. These reports present an overview of the current situation in the partner countries and are used to identify EU's priorities (The Commission 2004c:3). Based on these guidelines, the Commission prepares an Action Plan draft. However, the further development of this draft is made through cooperation with the partner countries. By preparing the Action Plans through this joint process, the plans are meant to reflect the interests of both sides, and build on the already existing national reform agendas in the partner countries. The principle of ownership is a crucial feature of the Action Plans and the ENP. In the main ENP strategy paper, it is determined that the "[j]oint ownership of the process, based on awareness of shared values and common interests, is essential" (European Commission 2004a:8). The introduction of 'joint ownership' gives partner countries the possibility of defining the priorities in liaison with the EU. This implies that the EU has a greater interest in cooperating with their partners, which is especially important in terms of political development. As concluded by Emerson and Noutcheva: "the particularity of the Action Plan is that they seek to make [the] prescriptions more operational by linking them to the domestic policy programmes of the partner state or EU policy norms and standards as an external anchor" (2005:21).

The Action Plans are the first step in a process covering a timeframe of three to five years (European Commission-Egypt 2006:2). The implementation progress will be monitored by the joint bodies under the Association Agreements, as well as unilateral EU reports (Kelly 2006:33). The first review will be undertaken two years after adoption, and then annually (European Commission 2004a:10). The use of benchmarks is another feature in the ENP. The "Wider Europe" Communication states that "the setting of clear and public objectives and benchmarks spelling out the action the EU expects from its partners is a means to ensure a consistent and credible approach between countries" (European Commission 2003a:16). By applying political and economic benchmarks in the Action Plans, these can be used to evaluate progress in agreed reforms and other targets. Whenever possible the benchmarks shall be made jointly "in order to ensure national ownership and commitment" (ibid.). However, this has resulted in a more moderate emphasis on benchmarks in the later ENP documents (Kelly 2006:36). Yet, compared to the Euro-Med and the AAs, the benchmarking approach become further developed in the ENP framework, the APs explicitly define the action priorities and furthermore divide them in short- and medium terms, and are regularly monitored.

Conditionality - an Instrument for Change

Conditionality is a well-known instrument used by the EU to influence the governments of third countries. There are a number of ways to employ conditionality in order to generate domestic change in third countries. A main distinction is made between negative and positive measures, also known as sticks and carrots. Negative conditionality covers measures like economic and political sanctions and suspension of agreements, aid or other advantages. Positive measures take the form of incentives: the chance of additional aid, co-operation, agreements and other benefits (Fierro 2003:100-101). The strongest incentive possessed and used by the EU is the prospect of membership. In the Eastern enlargement process, the chance of future membership in the EU was the most important instrument to foresee economic and democratic development (Copenhagen criteria) in the accession countries. It is explicitly stated by the Commission that for the non-European Mediterranean partners, accession has been ruled out (European Commission 2003a). However, according to Romani Prodi, this lack of membership prospect is not necessarily decisive: "the goal of accession is certainly the most powerful stimulus for reform we can think of. But why should a less ambitious goal not have the same effect? A substantive and workable concept of proximity has a positive effect" (Prodi 2002b). Apart from the incentives provided in the ENP, the EU stresses that the initiatives for priorities must come from the beneficiary country itself: "the EU does not seek to impose priorities or conditions on its partners [...] There can be no question of asking to accept a pre-determined set of priorities. These will be defined by common consent and will thus vary from country to country" (European Commission 2004a:8).

From Sticks to Carrots

What is interesting in this context is that the EU's use of conditionality has changed from EMP to ENP. Although never used, the Euro-Mediterranean Partnership contained conditionality clauses in its negative form. The Association Agreements between the EU and the partner countries entail a clause which states that: "[i]f either Party considers that the other Party has failed to fulfil an obligation under this agreement, it may take appropriate measures" (see for example European Community–Morocco 2000: Title VIII, Art.90). How such 'appropriate measures' can be materialised is not further specified. However, in theory it could imply everything from withdrawal of an advantage or good to suspension of the whole agreement. In addition, the MEDA Regulation contains a similar democracy clause: "This regulation is based on respect for democratic principles and the rule of law and also for human rights an fundamental freedoms, which constitute an

essential element thereof, the violation of which element will justify the adoption of appropriate measures" (European Council 1996, Art.3) In other words, any case of violation of democratic principles, rule of law or human rights could cause suspension of the MEDA funding. There is however a large gap between words and deeds in regards to the application of the clauses. Despite the many violations to democratic and human rights principles, so far these sanctions have never been used (Emerson and Noutcheva 2005:3,9).

As previously pointed out, the establishment of ENP does not replace the EMP, but complements it. Hence, the provisions of the Association Agreements are still valid. In addition, the ENPI also contains a democracy suspension clause (European Council 2006, Art.7). However, even with a democracy clause in place, the ENP has added a strong emphasis on incentives in the framework, and has as such prioritised carrots, rather than sticks.: "[...|The Southern Mediterranean should be offered the prospect of a stake in the EU's Internal Market and further integration and liberalisation to promote the free movement of - persons, goods, services and capital" (European Commission 2003a:4). The incentives are further elaborated in the individual Action Plans under the heading 'New Partnership Perspectives'. In the case of Morocco: "the prospect of moving beyond the existing relationship to a significant degree of integration, including offering Morocco a stake in the market and the possibility of participating progressively in key aspects of EU policies and programmes" (European Commission-Morocco 2004). Moreover, the perspectives promise, among other things, enhanced political dialogue, convergence of economic legislations, increased financial support, assistance, cooperation, and deepening trade and economic relations (ibid.). Hence, by implementing a positive conditionality, the perspective of partnerships depends upon how well countries are cooperating and fulfilling their individual Action Plan. As the incentives have been further developed, the ENPI now offers an 'ENP Governance Facility' which provide "increased funding for better-performing partners" - a promise of a premium to encourage progress on reform, in particular in the political sphere (see for example European Commission 2007c). By 2007, Morocco and Ukraine were the first partners to benefit from this arrangement (European Commission 2007b).

Scopes of 'Actions'

In addition to methodological features, the ENP framework has established a more explicit focus on shared values; hence the democracy discourse in the Mediterranean has become more prominent.¹⁶ The objectives of the Euro-Med and the ENP are quite similar. However, the scope of 'actions' related to democracy promotion is both extended and made more explicit compared to the Euro-Med.¹⁷ The main strategy paper calls for 'Commitment to shared values' - "The Union's aim is to promote peace, its values and the wellbeing of its peoples" in relations with their neighbours (European Commission 2004a:12). This emphasis on values is displayed in the differentiated Action Plans as well: after an introduction of the 'Priorities for Action', an extensive list of 'Actions' are presented. The 'actions' are numerous and divided in thematic subsections such as political dialogue, economic development, social development, trade and so on. Under the heading 'political dialogue and reform' in the Action Plan for Egypt for example, four subcategories are listed: democracy and rule of law, human rights and fundamental freedoms, co-operation on foreign and security policy, and combating terrorism. Within the first two concerned with democracy and human rights law, all in all 39 bullet points for 'actions' in the partnership are listed (European Commission-Egypt 2006). The main set-up in the various APs is quite similar to this one, although there are variations in the subjects and in the wording. There is also some variation in exactly how many and how specified the targets are in the plans. For example, in the Jordan AP, among the 24 'actions' relating to democracy, rule of law, and human rights, the first 'action' presented is to "Establish a political dialogue between the European Parliament and the Jordanian Parliament", under the medium term heading another 'action' is "Reform the political parties law and elections law" (European Commission-Jordan 2004). Table 1 shows the total number of 'actions' related to democracy, rule of law, and human rights in the APs of Egypt, Morocco, Tunisia, Jordan, and Lebanon. The total numbers vary between 24 and 39 actions which indicate that the democracy and human rights agenda is quite extensive, and far more developed than in the Association Agreements.

¹⁶ Shared values refers to "democracy, respect for human rights and the rule of law, as set out within the EU and the Charter of Fundamental Rights" (European Commission 2003:4 104).

¹⁷ Even so, the Action Plans are also criticised for being vague, se for example Bosse 2007.

TABLE 1:
ACTION PLANS: NUMBER OF ACTIONS IN THE DEMOCRACY, RULE OF
LAW AND HUMAN RIGHTS SECTIONS UNDER "POLITICAL DIALOGUE AND
REFORM" IN FIVE MEDITERRANEAN PARTER COUNTRIES

ACTIONS	EGYPT	MOROCCO	TUNISIA	JORDAN	LEBANON
Section 1: "Democracy and the rule of	(10)	(14)	(10)	(7)	(12)
law" Strengthen institutions guaranteeing democracy and rule of law	7	4	6	5	7**
Strengthen the judiciary	3	6	4	2	2
Fight against corruption	-	4	-	-	3
Section 2: "Human rights and fundamental freedoms"	(29)	(17)	(14)	(17)	(26)
Protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms	14	8	4	5	9
Freedom of the Media and freedom of expression	*	-	-	4	1
Freedom of association and expression	5	3	6	2	2
Rights of women and children	4	5	3	3	7
Social rights and core labour standards	3	1	I	3	3
Other: fight against racism, torture	3	-	-	-	4
Total	39	31	24	24	38

^{*}In Egypt AP: Freedom of association and of expression and pluralism of the media is joint in one section

Source: Action Plans, available online at: http://ec.europa.eu/world/enp/index_en.htm

Michelle Pace calls this new prominence of political objectives in the Action Plans 'striking' (Pace 2007:663). Karen Smith adds that insistence of political objectives, especially those concerned with human rights and democracy principles "could herald a new area in the EU's relations with its Mediterranean partners in particular, in which human rights and democracy have not usually been an important aspect" (Smith 2005b:765).

^{**} In Lebanon AP: 3 of the 7 actions are related to electoral reform in a separate section

The previous Euro-Med framework was short of an Action Plan instrument. The AAs referred to democracy, rule of law and human rights as basic principles, but did not contain any explicit plan of action. The main instruments, beyond the AAs, were the MEDA programmes, similar to the new financial instrument, ENPI.

Commitment of Resources

Having discussed the changes of methods and democracy agenda, we are left with the commitment of resources through the financial arrangements MEDA and ENPI. If the ENP has a stronger emphasis on democracy promotion, one should expect the allocations of grants to democracy assistance to have increased accordingly. In general, the total commitments of resources to the programmes have only slightly increased, but the data material shows two other changes: First, the payment ratios have increased considerably. And second, the commitments to democracy related 'actions' have expanded.

During the first period, the democracy assistance to the Mediterranean countries was managed under the separate MEDA democracy programme (MDP). Technically, it formed a part of the EIDHR, but was integrated into the Euro-Med programme. Between 1996 and 1999, the Commission funded 306 projects concerned with democracy and human rights issues. Over a hundred projects a year is quite a substantial number, however, the majority were NGO projects concerned with human rights issues, and not democracy assistance.

Furthermore, the total funding for the three years was no more than €27 million, which might be characterised as a modest amount. Particularly in regards to the remaining budget: the allocation amounted to only 0,3 percent of all aid to the Mediterranean (Youngs 2001:84), and to about *one percent* of the total grants allocated to support the EMP (Euro-Mediterranean Human Rights Network 2000). Another striking feature with MEDA I is the gap between the grants initially committed and the actual grants given. Only 28 percent of the allocated resources under MEDA I were actually transferred to the Mediterranean countries. Table 2 presents the EMP and ENP commitments and allocations of grants in more detail.

With the introduction of the MEDA II (2000–2006), the democracy programme became an integrated part of the instrument. The commitments of grants were only slightly increased compared to MEDA I, but the actual allocations increased considerably. The grant for 2005–2006 is formally still a

Chapter 3 41

part of the MEDA programme, as the ENPI first came into force in 2007, however, the 2005-2006 budgets should be viewed as an intermediate or opening phase to the ENP.¹⁸

TABLE 2
EMP/ENP COMMITMENTS AND ALLOCATIONS FOR SEVEN
MEDITERRANEAN COUNTRIES

PROGRAMME	MOROCCO	TUNISIA	ALGERIA	EGYPT	JORDAN	LEBANON	SYRIA	TOTAL
MEDAL	(5)	420	144		254	100	00	2040
MEDA 1 1995-1999	656	428	164	686	254	182	99	3060
Allocation	127	168	30	128	108	I	0	85 I
Payment ratio	19 %	39 %	18 %	19 %	43 %	Ι%	0 %	28 %
MEDA II 2000-2004	677	328	233	354	204	74	136	3096
Allocation	443	318	75	360	242	103	39	2386
Payment ratio	65 %	97 %	32 %	102 %	119 %	139 %	29 %	77 %
MEDA II 2002-2004	422	250	150	351	142	80	93	1488
MEDA II 2005-2006	275	144	106	243	110	50	80	1008
ENPI 2007-2010	656	300	220	558	265	187	130	2324

Numbers in € Million

Sources: EMP: Regional Strategy Paper 2002-2006, Country NIPs 2002-2004,

Country NIPs 2005-2006

ENP: ENPI Regional Strategy Paper 2007-2013 and Regional Indicative Programme

2007-2010 and Country NIPs 2007-2010

Available Online: http://ec.europa.eu/world/enp/index_en.htm and

http://ec.europa.eu/external_relations/euromed/

 $^{\mbox{\tiny 18}}$ The 2005–2006 NIPs refer explicitly to the ENP.

TABLE 3
EMP/ENP COMMITMENTS FOR DEMOCRACY, HUMAN RIGHTS AND RULE
OF LAW

PRO- GRAMME	MOROCCO	TUNISIA	ALGERIA	EGYPT	JORDAN	LEBANON	SYRIA	TOTAL	AVERAGE ANNU- ALLY
MEDA II 2002- 2004	0	30	15	0	2	0	0	47	16
Per cent of total	0 %	12 %	10 %	0 %	1,4%	0 %	0 %	3,2%	
MEDA II 2005- 2006	5	0	10	5	5	10	2	37	19
Per cent of total	1,8 %	0 %	9,5 %	2 %	4,5 %	20 %	2,5 %	3,7 %	
ENPI 2007- 2010	48	0	17	40	17	22	30	174	43,5
Per cent of total	7,3 %	0 %	7,7 %	7 %	6,5 %	11,8 %	23 %	7,5 %	

Numbers in € Million

Sources: EMP: Regional Strategy Paper 2002-2006, Country NIPs 2002-2004,

Country NIPs 2005-2006

ENP: ENPI Regional Strategy Paper 2007-2013 and Regional Indicative Programme

2007-2010 and Country NIPs 2007-2010

Available Online: http://ec.europa.eu/world/enp/index_en.htm and

http://ec.europa.eu/external_relations/euromed/

Comparing the MEDA funding with the Neighbourhood Policy instrument ENPI, the total amount of grants are again only slightly increased. However, the commitments granted specifically to reforms in the area of democracy, human rights, and rule of law are increased and in some cases multiplied. Table 3 shows the commitments to democracy assistance in the various countries and in total numbers. In Egypt for example, there were no direct democracy assistance in the MEDA-period 2002-2004. The 2005-2006 budget committed €5 million (1.8 percent) for "strengthening democracy and human rights". On the other hand, the ENPI programme for 2007-2010 has reserved €40 million (7 percent) for "Supporting Egypt's reforms in the areas of democracy, human rights and justice". A corresponding increase is also visible in the 2007-2010 indicative programmes of Morocco, Jordan, and Syria. Tunisia is the only country with an extensive funding where nothing is

specified for democracy promotion. In Algeria the democracy assistance has been more stable, and in Lebanon the percentage is actually larger in the 2005–2006 budget. However, the average percentage committed to political reforms in all seven countries has increased to 7,5 percent of the total budget. One might argue that 7,5 percent is still meagre, especially compared with the allocations to for example economic development, yet the ENPI commitments are twice as high compared to the grants under the previous MEDA II programme, and many times more than MEDA I. The priorities related to democracy promotion between 2004 and 2010 are listed below in table 4. The various democracy objectives are concerned with civil society, political reforms, the judiciary and human rights.

Chapter Conclusion

To what extent can the ENP democracy initiatives be regarded as a substantial shift of policy? This chapter shows that there are changes regarding methods, agendas, and commitments of resources. First of all, the neighbourhood strategy is essentially bilateral and has therefore brought on a more differentiated strategy. This is particularly striking in the Action Plans – the main instrument of the ENP. The Action Plans are tailor-made to comply with the specific context and needs of the various countries. Moreover, the Action Plans are made through collaboration with the partner country in question, bringing in the principle of joint ownership. And finally, the priorities in the Action Plans are presented in more detail, divided in short and medium term, presenting the use of benchmarks, even though this has been toned down in later documents. Regarding the use of conditionality, there has been a shift from primarily use of negative conditionality towards positive measures. The neighbourhood strategy relies to a further extent on incentives, spelled out in the ENP strategy paper, the Action Plans, and in the indicative programmes. Finally, 'actions' related to democracy promotion are extended in the plans and there is a rise in funding. The overall commitments are only slightly increased in the ENPI and the allocations to democratic principles are still modest, they are doubled compared to MEDA II and multiplied compared to MEDA I. Based on the efforts made to improve the efficiency of the policy and extending the democratisation agenda and funding, the ENP programme appears to be more dedicated to promoting democratic principles in the Mediterranean – that is of course, without taking the actual implementation of the plans into consideration.

¹⁹ Palestine and Israel is not counted in. There is no NIP for Palestine and Israel hardly has any budget at all.

Interestingly, there is also an element of path-dependency, adaptation and learning to the ENP, partly from the Barcelona Process, but primarily from the Eastern enlargement process (Kelly 2006). The path dependency of the ENP is strong, first, because it came about because of the historical enlargement, but also, "in light of the relative weakness of past policies towards the ENP countries in promoting these values [human rights, democracy and rule of law]" (ibid:31). Judith Kelly points out that the use of differentiation, joint ownership, benchmarking or, "the way both strategy papers and action plans tie progress into future re-valuations of the relationship" (ibid:49) and conditionality, all are features following from the enlargement (2006). This could indicate that the ENP and its promotion of democracy are efforts to extend or imitate the success of the Eastern enlargement, and to re-adjust the flaws of the Barcelona Process.

However, there is more to the promotion of democracy than the particular plans and frameworks, as pointed out by Peter Burnell: "A strategy is more than just a route map: it involves a statement of the objectives and a clear understanding of the reasons why they are desired and the level of commitment that will be forthcoming" (2005:381 emphasis added). How then can this strengthened emphasis on democratic principles in the Mediterranean be accounted for? To answer this question, I will in the following chapters explore the three hypotheses presented in Chapter 2.

Chapter 3 45

TABLE 4 EMP/ENP DEMOCRACY, HUMAN RIGHTS AND RULE OF LAW OBJECTIVES

PROG.	MOROCCO	TUNISIA	ALGERIA	EGYPT	JORDAN	LEBANON	SYRIA
MEDA II 2002- 2004		Improving gover- nance, rule of law: media and justice	Support justice reform		Strengthe -ning of pluralism, human rights, civil society and rule of law		
MEDA II 2005- 2006	Human rights, institutions and NGOS		NGO II	Demo- cracy and human rights	Technical assistance to the development of democracy, good governance and human rights	Support implemen- tation of ENP programmes	Civil society and develo- pment
ENPI 2007- 2010	Gover- nance, Human rights, govern- ment reform		Justice II	Support reforms in the areas of demo- cracy, human rights and justice	Support for human rights, demo- cracy and good gover- nance	Support to political reforms	Support for political and adm. reform

Sources: EMP: Regional Strategy Paper 2002-2006, Country NIPs 2002-2004,

Country NIPs 2005-2006

ENP: ENPI Regional Strategy Paper 2007-2013 and Regional Indicative Programme

2007-2010 and Country NIPs 2007-2010

Available Online: http://ec.europa.eu/world/enp/index_en.htm and

http://ec.europa.eu/external_relations/euromed/

Chapter 4

Security and Economic Interests

How can the emerging emphasis on democratic principles in the Mediterranean rim be accounted for? There are various plausible explanations for this question. The question to be answered in this first part of the analysis is: To what extent is democracy promotion an interest-based policy? And more specifically, to what extent can concerns about security and economic self-interests explain the commitments to promote democracy? The idea that democracy has virtues beyond its intrinsic value as a political system is well established in the literature (Doyle 1997; Russel and Moaz 1993; Spanger and Wolff 2007). Hence, some argue that norm promotion is valued primarily for its instrumental role in advancing other objectives, including security and economic gains (se for example Youngs 2004). In accordance with the dominant perspectives on foreign policy, this chapter applies a rationalist approach in order to better understand the emerging emphasis on democracy promotion as a foreign policy objective in the European Union. I will therefore explore the following hypothesis:

First hypothesis: The European Union emphasises the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean countries in order to enhance its own security and increase its own economic benefits.

In order to do that, I will study the arguments for promoting democracy and investigate to what extent the discourse is characterised by the EU's self-interests and expectations of potential gains. The analysis will be divided in two parts: First, I will investigate to what extent the argumentation refers to promotion of democracy as a means to enhance the EU's own security. In the second part, I examine if the argumentation predominantly refers to potential economic gains for the EU connected to the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean.

EU Security and the Mediterranean

The issues of security and stability are of great importance in relations between the EU and the Mediterranean countries. Needless to say, the Mediterranean security agenda contains a range of items covering objectives related to everything from disputes over territory, most notably the Arab-Israeli dispute and the Western Sahara, proliferation of weapons, Islamism, authoritarianism, terrorism, and socio-economic conditions (Bishop 2003:1-11). None of the Mediterranean countries pose a direct military threat to the European Union. However, there are a number of risks and challenges that give rise to great concerns for the EU. In addition to domestic and intra-state conflicts that could spill over into the Union, there are other security issues like illegal immigration and trafficking, organised crime, terrorism, abuse of the environment, and so on (Aliboni 2005:1). All these issues represent real challenges for the EU, and the geographical proximity makes the risks even more pressing. As the European security strategy (Solana 2003:7) points out: "even in an era of globalization, geography is still important. It is in the European interest that the countries on our borders are well-governed. Neighbours who are engaged in violent conflict, weak states where organised crime flourishes, dysfunctional societies or exploding population growth on its borders all pose problems for Europe".

The security dimension has been a prominent feature in relations between the EU and the Mediterranean for some time. The Barcelona process aimed at establishing a common area of peace and security, and the neighbourhood strategy aims similarly to prevent new dividing lines in Europe, and further to develop a zone of prosperity and a friendly neighbourhood. In the common European Security Strategy (ESS) 'Building security in our neighbourhood' (Solana 2003) is set out as one of the three main objectives. The ESS confirms that the Mediterranean neighbourhood is particularly important to the security of the EU: "The Mediterranean area generally continues to undergo serious problems of economic stagnation, social unrest and unresolved conflicts" - "The integration of acceding states increases our security but also brings the EU closer to troubles areas. Our task is to promote a ring of well-governed countries to the East of the European Union and on the border to the Mediterranean with whom we can enjoy close and cooperative relations" (ibid:8). Moreover, the key threats listed in the strategy correspond well with the general challenges stemming from the Mediterranean i.e. terrorism, proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, regional conflicts, state failure (bad governance), and organised crimes (ibid:3-4). Even though these challenges move beyond the immediate neighbourhood, they may appear to be particularly important in these areas because of the geographical proximity. Notably, the ESS was launched the same year as the Neighbourhood Policy. The attention given to the new neighbourhood in the document is also extensive, although the ENP is not explicitly mentioned. Yet, the ENP strategy paper (2004a:2) states that it will "support the effort to realise the objectives of the European Security Strategy".

Helle Malmvig (2004; 2007) argues that the EU has created two conflicting security discourses on the Mediterranean: a 'cooperation security discourse' and a 'liberal reform discourse'. The former refers to threats as a common challenge to the EU and the Mediterranean that must be tackled through dialogue and cooperation, whereas the latter separates the Mediterranean from the EU as a troubled area and the home of many of the threats to Europe. Interestingly, the threats are defined as embedded within the nature of the political and economic systems themselves, and therefore reforming these systems becomes a means to ensure the EU's security. This second discourse is thus of particular interest in this first part of the analysis, in her words "the absence of democracy and liberalised economies is established as the source of instability, violence, terrorism, and radicalism, it seemingly follows that the promotion of democracy and liberal market economy will counter these threats" (Malmvig 2004:14). In addition, she holds that the Neighbourhood Policy to a greater extent than the Euro-Med asserts a 'liberal reform discourse' – i.e. a discourse that upholds the logic of promoting democracy to ensure security (2004:20).

Democracy Promotion as Security Strategy

The nexus between security and democratic principles is frequently stated by the EU. As expressed already in the Barcelona declaration: "the general objective of turning the Mediterranean basin into an area of dialogue, exchange and cooperation guaranteeing peace, stability and prosperity requires a strengthening of democracy and respect for human rights" (European Commission 1995, emphasis added). The Council reaffirms that it is of "the crucial importance of the ENP to consolidate a ring of prosperity, stability and security based on human rights, democracy and rule of law in the EU's neighbourhood" (European Council 2007a:2). Furthermore, the Council states that,"political instability and weak governance in our neighbourhood could impact the EU" (2007b:1). Hence, not only is security presented as an issue of major importance between the EU and the Mediterranean, it is explicitly linked with democratic principles. This is also reflected in the EU Strategic Partnership with the Mediterranean and the Middle East (2004:2) which states that the challenges in the Mediterranean "will not be overcome by

maintaining the status quo; political, social and economic reform is required". More precisely, "the security challenges which have already developed to worrying levels [...] regional conflicts, terrorism, proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, and organised crime" will be responded to by a wide range of measures, including "promoting the rule of law, respect for human rights, civil society and good governance" (ibid:3). The linkage between security and democracy promotion appears to be well established in the relationship policies across the Mediterranean. However, is the emerging emphasis on democracy promotion in the Neighbourhood Policy in reality an interest-based strategy to enhance the EU's security? To answer this question, I will examine the arguments made in the ENP more closely.

ENP and Security Arguments

In accordance with the traditional perspectives on foreign policy, some literature suggests that governments promote norms on the basis of selfinterests in order to enhance material gains (se for example Youngs 2004). A systematic examination of the arguments in the ENP confirms that such ideas are influential, however, the picture presented is nuanced and indicates that democracy promotion is more than just a security strategy for the EU. In fact, the majority of arguments depict democracy promotion as a means to establish a common area of security, not simply provide security for EU territory and citizens. These finding do not fit well with realist assumptions that states when "operating in a self-help world [one] should always act according to their own self-interest, because it pays to be selfish in a self-help world (Mearsheimer 1995:11). According to the premises of neo-realism, the idea of collective security is simply rejected. First of all, because in an anarchic system states cannot trust or know other actors' true intentions, hence, states fear each other from the outset. And if they do consider cooperation, it is only because they can profit from it, preferably in terms of relative gains - the belief that they can gain more than the one they cooperate with, "it is more important to make sure that [...][one] does better, or at least not worse, than the other state in any agreement" (Ibid:11-12). That notwithstanding, there are indications that the EU perceives democracy promotion as beneficial to their own security interests. This will be discussed in two parts: First, I will examine the security arguments in general, then I will assess the particular linkage to counter terrorism in more detail.

In the Commission's communication *On strengthening the European Neighbourhood Policy* it is stated that (2006a:2): "poverty and unemployment, mixed economic performance, corruption and weak governance remain major challenges", moreover, it is said that:

These are not only our neighbours' problems. They risk producing major spillovers for the EU, such as illegal immigration, unreliable energy supplies, environmental degradation and terrorism. It has thus become clear that the ENP could and should be strengthened, particularly when one considers the prohibitive cost of failing to support our neighbours in their reform efforts (ibid).

This extract illustrates how weak governance in the neighbourhood is articulated as a security risk for the EU. The promotion of political reforms and democratic principles are hence presented a means to comply with these risks. Furthermore, the cost of *not* accommodating these security challenges is emphasised. The Commission concludes the statement above by emphasising its importance, "The EU must help those neighbouring countries who are willing to reform to do this faster, better and lower cost to their citizens. It must provide more incentives and convince those who are still hesitant" (ibid.). The EU's security was also emphasised during the development of the Neighbourhood Policy; the *Wider Europe* initiative refers to the stability, prosperity, shared values and rule of law in the neighbourhood as fundamental for our own security (Solana and Patten 2002).

Hence, not surprisingly, references to security and stability turn up frequently in the data material. As noted above, political instability and weak governance in the immediate neighbourhood is described as a security risk for the EU (European Council 2007b:1, European Commission 2006a:2). Further, since the root causes of these risks are placed within the nature of the political systems themselves, the promotion of democratic principles is prescribed as the key to security and stability (se for example Walström 2005). Following this logic, the Mediterranean is presented as a troubled area from which the EU should protect itself: "By promoting democratic institutions, the rule of law and fundamental reforms, it addresses the roots of instability" (Ferreero-Waldner 2005d). Moreover, as Commissioner Ferrero-Waldner explicitly states: "This is not just a political imperative, but a matter of self-interest. If Europe did not 'export' stability, it would import 'instability'" (2006c, emphasis in original). This kind of argumentation indicates that the ENP is driven by self-interests. This is reaffirmed by the European Commission: "The premise of the European Neighbourhood Policy is that the EU has a vital interest in seeing greater economic development and stability and better governance in its neighbourhood" (2006a:2, emphasis added) and the European Parliament: "The EU has a strong interest in long-term stability in its neighbourhood, which leads it to promote democracy and good

governance, human rights and sustainable development" (European Parliament 2003:16). So far, the promotion of democracy seemingly serves the self- interests of the EU, in accordance with rational-choice logic. This also supports the first hypothesis of the analysis – democracy promotion as a means for enhancing the EU's security and stability. However, as remarked by Barroso, "we must be prepared to accept that even free and democratic processes do not always produce comfortable results" (Barroso 2006). The EU is seemingly aware of the risks involved in democratisation of authoritarian states, Barroso refers to 'uncomfortable results' in Iraq and Palestine, but also adds that "we must respect these democratic choices" (ibid.) Hence, the EU appears to be aware of what has been labelled the stability-democratization dilemma (Jünemann 2003). Moreover, the statements above do not fit well with the idea that democracy promotion is a security strategy concerned only with the security of the EU. According to realist assumptions, to emphasise democracy promotion if it knowingly is counterproductive to one's interests, does not make much sense, a rational actor will always choose security and other fundamental national interests over any 'second-order' concerns (Hyde- Price 2007:54). In practical terms, this means that stability will trump democratisation, because real democratic changes generally are destabilising (Burnell 2005; Gillespie and Youngs 2002; Youngs 2001).

However, as the strategy paper announces, the objective of ENP is *not* just a matter of enhancing the EU's security, but "to share the benefits of the enlargement with neighbouring countries in strengthening stability, security and well-being for all" (European Commission 2004a:3). Such references to security move beyond the mere self-interest of the EU, suggesting that there might be more to the explanation than a cost-benefit analysis. Security and stability are not presented as just an EU matter, but as a common concern: "Today more than ever before, we are facing common security threats: we can only deal with them by working together" (Solana 2005b). Common security challenges need to be handled through cooperation, the objective is thus to enhance the security of both the EU and the Mediterranean states. This is referred to by Commissioner Ferrero-Waldner as a win-win policy (Ferrero-Waldner 2005d).

Shared values, strong democratic institutions and a common understanding of the need to institutionalise respect for human rights will open the way closer and more open dialogue on the Union's Common Foreign and Security Policy and the development of the European Security and Defence Policy

(ESPD). A shared neighbourhood implies burden-sharing and joint responsibility for addressing the threats to stability created by conflict and insecurity (European Commission 2003a:12).

Accordingly, the promotion of democratic principles in the Commission's statement is described as a means to enhance the cooperation in order to jointly address common security challenges. Malmvig argues that the emphasis on common challenges and shared interests in the relations between the Mediterranean and the EU encourage cooperation, which "in the long run may lead to the construction of a shared community" (Malmvig 2007:94). Statements such as: "helping our neighbours advance on their paths of modernization and creating a space of stability and shared values beyond the EU's borders is our mutual interest" (European Council 2007b:2), support the idea of interdependence and common security rather than the mere enhancement of EU's security.

The analysis so far shows that references to security and stability are commonly used in the official documents and speeches. However, the first hypothesis is seemingly only partly supported. Whereas some arguments suggest that democracy promotion will enhance the EU's security, the EU also recognises that it must prepare for unwanted results. Furthermore, the majority of the arguments move in a different direction – beyond the mere protection of EU territory and citizens. This discourse presents democracy promotion as a means to enhance not only the security of the EU, but the common security of both the EU and the Mediterranean. According to realism, states are concerned primarily with their own security, even if great powers can have an interest in the stability of their external environment i.e. milieu goals - national security is always the fundamental interest of importance (Hyde-Price 2007:54). Furthermore, in a rationalist or realist world, an actor would never apply a strategy knowing that it would mean "taking significant political risks and expending real political capital that up to now has been used in the service of economic and security interests" (Carothers in Burnell 2005:365). Hence, in the democratisation-stabilisation dilemma facing the EU, the latter should have been chosen, because, according to realism, security is the primary concern for any actor, and one should always act according to own self-interests, "this is true in the short term as well as the long term, because if a state loses in the short run, it may not be around for the long haul" (Mearsheimer 1995:11).

By including its partners in a common area of security, the EU is apparently acting upon a different logic; the arguments imply in fact that the EU

perceives a sense of shared community with its southern neighbours. Arguments referring to shared community and identity relate to ethical-political justifications and not pragmatic arguments. I will come back to this later in the analysis.

An Anti-Terrorism Strategy?

Terrorism puts lives at risk; it imposes large costs; it seeks to undermine the openness and tolerance of our societies, and it poses a growing strategic threat to the whole of Europe (Solana 2003:3).

Terrorism is not just undemocratic. It is anti-democratic. It is just inhuman. It is an affront to humanity. It runs counter to all the values on which the European Union is founded (Ahern 2004).

After 9/11, terrorist acts are increasingly framed as one of the major threats to societies. As the statements above suggest, the European Union is no exception, and this has become more pronounced since the terrorist attacks on European territory in Madrid in March 2004 and in London in July 2005. Terrorism is also referred to as one of the key threats to the EU in the security strategy. The strategy states that the most recent wave of terrorism is connected to violent religious extremism, moreover, the only terrorist group mentioned by name is Al Qaeda (Solana 2003:3). In line with this, Daniel Keohane (2008:126) claims that the future risks of terrorism are most likely to come from the Middle East, North Africa, and Asia, in particular from Islamic terrorists. Moreover, according to Ulla Holm, terrorism is increasingly perceived as a threat to European values: "Terrorism is presented as destroying the very building blocks of European values; political liberalism, democracy, rule of law and human rights" (Holm 2004:7). Hence, terrorism is portrayed as a threat to democracy itself, which is the constitutive value of Europe. How, then, does the promotion of democracy and counter terrorism strategy fit together? Is democratisation framed as a means to counterterrorism in the Mediterranean? The data material seems to be more unclear on this point. In general, the EU seems to view democratisation as a means to combat the root causes of international terrorism, but this linkage is not explicitly reflected upon in the Neighbourhood Policy.

The Commission communication on reinvigorating EU actions on Human rights and democratisation with the Mediterranean partners (2003b:4) remarks that: "Authoritarianism and poor economic and social performance favour political marginalisation and provide fuel for radical movements and violence". In the Declaration on combating terrorism, the Council refers to the root causes of terrorism and states that "the Union must increase its involvement in the efforts of the international community to prevent and stabilise regional conflicts and promote good governance and the rule of law" (European Council 2004a:2). Non-democratic regimes and governance are thus perceived by the EU as an underlying cause of terrorism. Based on this logic, assisting the democratisation process would be an instrument of counter terrorism. In a report on the external dimension of the fight against international terrorism, the European Parliament draws the same conclusion: "Societies which suffer from high level of political, social, economic, ethnic, religious and other discrimination and lack of democracy and human rights constitute an ideal breeding ground for terrorism" (European Parliament 2006b:6), more explicitly, "worldwide promotion of democracy, the rule of law and human rights is the best defence against terrorism" (ibid:29). The material indicates so far that the EU views the promotion of democracy as a means to fight international terrorism. This is also supported by Daniel Keohane's analysis of the EU's counter-terrorism strategies. He claims that development assistance and democracy promotion are increasingly becoming securitised in the sense that they are presented as counter-terrorism measures rather than goals in themselves (Keohane 2008:127). However, this is not evident in the Neighbourhood Policy. The ENP is committed to the fight against terrorism, as an essential aspect of the EU's external action (European Commission 2004a:13). Commissioner Ferrero-Waldner also confirms that the "conditions conducive to the spread of terrorism must be tackled. Tackling the root causes of terrorism lies in the heart of our external policies", and then highlights the work of improving governance and administrative capacities in third countries (2007a). But the Neighbourhood Policy strategies themselves contain no direct reference to linkages between democracy promotion and the fight against terrorism in the Mediterranean. There is however a similar argumentation on terrorism as in the predominant security discourse discussed above. Terrorism is also described as a common challenge: "threats to mutual security, whether from illegal immigration, trafficking, organised crime or terrorist networks, will require joint approaches in order to be addressed comprehensively" (European Commission 2003a:6).

Pattern

The security arguments presented in favour of the promotion of democracy articulated in the Neighbourhood Policy move in two different directions. These two discourses resemble what Malmvig refers to as a 'cooperation security discourse' and a 'liberal reform discourse', apart from the fact that democracy promotion appears to be important in both discourses, not just the latter, as suggested by Malmvig. Firstly, in accordance with the examined hypothesis, democracy promotion is to a certain extent presented as a means to enhance the security of the EU. Yet, the EU also acknowledges the potential stability-democratisation dilemma, which makes it, according to realist assumptions, unlikely to emphasise democracy promotion in order to enhance the EU's security. Secondly, an even greater part of the security arguments referred in fact to enhanced security for both the EU and its neighbours, Europe and the Mediterranean and even beyond. Arguments with reference to common challenges and concerns, mutual interests and equal benefits indicate notions of a common security, rather than protection of the EU from external threats from the Mediterranean. This neither fits well with realist nor neo-realist assumptions of rational action, underpinning the analysis. Rational actors are assumed to follow self-interests based on cost benefit analysis. Moreover, international anarchy generates fear among actors, in this context, even cooperation is assumed to be difficult (Hyde-price 2007:52-54), and notions of security communities are simply rejected (Mearsheimer 1995:11).

In the last part of the analysis, I examined democracy promotion as a counter-terrorism strategy and found that promoting democracy in general is viewed as a means to fight the root causes of terrorism, but in the ENP documents there are no explicit examples of such references. However, the fight against terrorism presented in the ENP is also described as a common challenge demanding joint actions.

Although the first hypothesis has some support, the examination so far does not provide a sufficient explanation – there is obviously more to democracy promotion than enhancing the security of the EU. The security and stability arguments to promote democracy appear often to concur with the interests of prosperity. In accordance with the remaining part of the first hypothesis, can EU expectations of economic gains contribute any further to the explanation?

EU Economic Interests in the Mediterranean

The economic relationship between the EU and the Mediterranean has deep roots, and far deeper than its political counterpart. Prior to the Barcelona Process, a range of bilateral trade agreements were in place between the EU and Mediterranean countries. The economic dimension was further developed in the Barcelona Declaration, which launched the objectives of economic and financial partnership and building a zone of shared prosperity. The establishment of a Euro-Mediterranean free trade area was an essential element, in addition the partnership included cooperation in the areas of investment, industry, agriculture, transport and energy (European Commission 1995). Not surprisingly, economic cooperation is highly emphasised in the Neighbourhood Policy as well. As described by the External Relations Commissioner: "our vision is of an economically integrated area which spans the whole of EU and its closest European and Mediterranean partners. An area where goods, services and capital flow freely, opening up new possibilities and greater opportunities for us all" (Ferrero-Waldner 2007b). In short, the ENP envisages enhanced trade relations, increased financial and technical assistance, and offers its partners the prospect of a stake in the EU internal market (European Commission 2004a:14).

The EU has a range of economic interests in the Mediterranean, related to trade, investment, and energy supplies. However, the economic interests are mutual, in fact the EU is the greatest trading partner of the Mediterranean countries²⁰, whereas in the EU the highest ranked Mediterranean country in 2006 was Algeria, as the EU's 17th largest trading partner, principally due to its energy export, followed by Israel in 27th, Morocco in 31st and Egypt in 35th place (European Commission 2008b). Based on these numbers, the economic interests related to trade seem to be more important to the southern partners than to the EU. Or, it can be interpreted as an indication of future economic potential for the EU in the region, as Trade Commissioner Peter Mandelson points out: "there is a huge untapped potential for increased trade and investment flow in the [Mediterranean] region" (Mandelson 2007).

ENP - Economic Gains

As with the security dimension, economic development and prosperity in the neighbourhood are presented as vital interests for the EU (European Commission 2006a; 2007a). Furthermore, the promotion of democracy is often presented as a means to prosperity, often mentioned concurrently with

²⁰ With the exception of Israel and the Palestinian Authority.

the objectives of security and stability. As in former Commissioner Chris Patten words: "we believe that democracy and human rights are the best guarantors for stability and prosperity" (Patten 2004). However, the question here is not to what extent the Mediterranean states enhance their prosperity, but rather, what is in it for the EU? Is the democracy promotion justified by reference to expected economic gains for the EU?

The EU's economic gains in the Mediterranean relate, firstly to access to new markets for investment and trade, and secondly, energy security. These gains are not systematically related to democracy promotion, even though there are linkages between the two, it is mainly linked to economic development and integration. However, it is clear that the relationship between economic and political development is understood as interdependent and even as mutual reinforcing processes:

Economic and political reforms are two sides of the same coin in the long run. Without security and an open political climate, based on functioning institutions and the rule of law, there can be no market economy. Vice versa, without a tangible economic perspective and fair access to opportunities, political progress will remain shaky, and the grounds for ideological radicalization will say fertile (Ferrero-Waldner 2006c).

This statement by the Commissioner illustrates the interdependence between democratic principles and security - and market economy. The Neighbourhood Policy is accordingly pushing for both political and economic reforms; "democracy, pluralism, respect for human rights, civil liberties, the rule of law and core labour standards are all essential prerequisites for political stability, as well as for peaceful and sustained social and economic development" (European Commission 2003a:7). Even so, as mentioned, the references to economic gains are primarily linked to the economic development and reforms. As Ferrero-Waldner points out: "Economic support and liberalisation are equally beneficial to the Union itself. Boosting Europe's growth requires new markets" (2005d, emphasis in original), moreover "Boosting Europe's economic growth requires us to seek out new markets and allow our companies to benefit from economies of scale, whilst assisting our citizens to adjust to new challenges and opportunities" (Ferrero-Waldner 2005c). Director General in DG External Relations, Eneko Landaburu, more explicitly emphasises that reforming the partner countries will provide gains for the EU: "by supporting the counties' own reform efforts, we also benefit the EU since our continued growth

requires new markets" (Lanaburu 2006). Access to new markets is hence emphasised, which will be beneficial to the EU, it is even formulated as a requirement due to economic growth in the EU. Democracy promotion is not articulated explicitly as a means to ensure the EU's new markets. Yet, indirectly, one might argue that due to the interdependent relationship between economic and political development, democracy promotion will contribute to securing access to new markets.

ENP and particularly the proposed extension of the internal market, will improve the investment climate in partner counties. It will provide a more transparent, stable and enabling environment for private sector-led growth. A positive impact on foreign direct investment flows is expected as a result of a more favourable policy environment, falling trade and transactions costs, attractive relative labour costs and reduced risks (European Commission 2004a:14).

This extract from the ENP strategy paper lists a number of potential gains, among other things, improvement of the investment climate, which will also serve the EU's interests. There is in fact a great potential for further EU investments in the Mediterranean. As Mandelson has pointed out, today the southern Mediterranean attract less than two percent of EU Foreign Direct Investment (2007), hence "the objective of improving the investment climate, including by ensuring transparency, predictability, and simplification of these countries' regulatory framework will help facilitate and increase twoway investment" (European Commission 2004a:16). Transparency and predictability relate to democratic principles and in this sense also to the promotion of such principles. Furthermore, the Commission states that strengthening the judicial system will also contribute to a better investment climate (ibid.). Improvements in the rule of law are hence portrayed as instruments to improve the investment climate, which shall pave the way for increased foreign investments. Moreover, economic gains are generally described as mutually beneficiary for both the EU and its partners. Even so, economic development and integration are however not without costs. Commissioner Ferrero-Waldner remarks that "economic integration is not a glamorous process. Quite the opposite; making a reality of free trade throughout this vast geographic area entails an enormous quantity of reforms and sometimes difficult decisions. And it cannot happen overnight' (2005b). However, it is emphasised that despite the difficulties, the Neighbourhood Policy will be beneficial in the long term: "It may sometimes require difficult decisions, but I am convinced that our efforts will be far outweighed by longterm benefits, both for EU citizens and for our neighbours" (Ferrero-Waldner 2007d, emphasis in original).

EU Energy Security

It is also in our enlightened self-interest to help spread the consolidation of democracy and economic prosperity throughout the Mediterranean, a region of geostrategic importance for the European Union if only because of its energy resources [...] (Patten 2003b).

Energy security has a prominent position in the ENP: "enhancing our strategic energy partnership with neighbouring countries is a major element of the European Neighbourhood Policy. This includes security of energy supply and energy safety and security" (European Commission 2004a:17). In a world where energy resources are scarce and the demand is increasing, there is little doubt of the major importance of securing energy supplies. Furthermore, as stated in the ENP strategy paper: "[the] neighbouring countries play a vital role in the security of the EU's energy supply" (ibid.). Based on the energy resources in the Mediterranean area, mainly gas, but also oil, this is a particular important area of cooperation: "[The Mediterranean partners] are countries whose strategic importance is proving crucial, not least because of the vast energy resources at their disposal" (European Parliament 2003:17). Algeria is the third largest supplier of gas to the EU, and Egypt is rapidly expanding as a gas producer. Not surprisingly, maintaining access to Algeria's gas reserves is of primary importance, and is especially important if the EU wants to keep its dependency on gas imports from Russia to a minimum. Reinforcing networks and interconnections to ensure the security and safety of energy supplies and for extending the internal market to partner countries are also emphasised in the ENP (European Commission 2004a:17). Solana remarks that nearly all energy supplies are controlled by countries which experience political instability, poor governance, and human right abuses (Solana 2008). Regardless, according to Solana, even though "much of the world's gas and oil reserves lie in unstable and often undemocratic parts of the world", "we have to take our energy from where we find it" (Solana 2006). Then, to what extent is democratisation used to ensure stable energy supplies? Solana does address the question of how the EU can use foreign policy instruments and relationships to secure energy interests, and calls it 'energy security through foreign policy', which in practical terms means "being more united and disciplined in our energy diplomacy. Promoting sound market principles and investment protection in our neighbourhood

Chapter 4 61

and beyond" (Solana 2008). Promotion of economic development and reforms are hence embedded in his view of 'energy security through foreign policy', but, notably, not political development. In fact, to the contrary, Solana admits that our energy needs may well limit our ability to push for human rights and good governance (Solana 2006).

Pattern

The economic gains provided by access to markets, investment and a sound energy supply are not only described as beneficial to the EU, but as a mutually beneficial relationship. The ENP is hence founded on both the EU's and the Mediterranean's economic interests. It is nevertheless clear that the EU's economic self-interest in the Mediterranean has been important in shaping the Neighbourhood Policy, and that political development is considered to play a role, albeit a minimal one, in ensuring economic gains for the EU. The promotion of a sound economic environment and integration are more important and portrayed as premises for both access to the market and improvement of the investment climate. The role of political reforms to enhance perspectives of economic gains are generally limited and when mentioned it is confined to reforms within the judiciary and rule of law.

Energy is presented as a primary concern for the EU, however, there are no indications that democracy is not promoted to enhance the EU's energy security, the arguments suggest rather that energy security may trump the objectives of norm promotion. The hypothesis of democracy promotion increasing economic gains is hence only partly supported. However, statements such as "economic progress and reform cannot be meaningful without being underpinned by political and social reforms" (Ferrero-Waldner 2007c), indicate that political reforms are also related to future economic gains.

Chapter Conclusion

The objective of this chapter was to examine to what extent the EU's emphasis on democracy promotion in the Mediterranean, in accordance with traditional perspectives on international relations, is driven by self-interests. The hypothesis presumed that the EU was driven by interests to enhance its own security and/or to increase economic gains for the EU. The analysis has given the following indications:

Security is a matter of great importance between the EU and the Mediterranean; the EU is concerned with a number of security risks and challenges stemming from the Mediterranean. In this image presented by the

EU, weak governance and lack of democratic principles are portrayed among the challenges. At first glance, this description suggests that democracy promotion is a probable and appropriate security strategy to maintain the EU's security. A systematic examination of the arguments in favour of promoting democracy within the ENP points however in two directions. To a certain extent, the promotion of democracy is presented as matter of selfinterests and as instrument to address the root causes of the instability in the Mediterranean, and thereby secure the EU. However, at the same time, the EU also acknowledges the potential stability-democratisation dilemma, which makes it, according to realist assumptions, unlikely to emphasise democracy promotion knowing it could jeopardise, rather than enhance, the stability. Democracy and stability can in fact end up as mutually exclusive policy goals, which imply that there must be more to this story than EU security considerations. And rightly so, a further investigation of the arguments revealed that the ENP's democracy promotion is not firstly a matter of enhancing the EU's security, it is rather concerned with common security which implies joint forces and gives mutual benefits, and hence justifications beyond the mere self-interests of the EU - which as discussed previously, neither fit well with realist assumptions of fear and self-help in an international anarchic system.

The more detailed examination of democracy promotion as a counterterrorism strategy did not add much or change the picture, there was no indication in the ENP that democracy was promoted to fight terrorism. Moreover, in general the efforts to fight terrorism were also described as a common challenge that demanded joint approaches.

In the second part, I investigated the possibility of economic gains for the EU as a driving force to promote democracy. This part diverged from the first part of the analysis as there were few arguments connecting democracy promotion to economic gains, but similar to the first findings, because the arguments that did, presented the gains as mutually beneficial. Hence the hypothesis that the EU promotes democracy to increase its own economic benefits has only partial support.

Seemingly, the analysis so far does not sufficiently explain the EU's effort to promote democratic principles in the Mediterranean. Hence, turning to the second part of the analysis, it seems clear that democracy promotion is more that just a strategy to enhance the EU's security or increase its economic gains.

Chapter 5

Normative Explanations

There is an increasing literature surrounding the normative features of the EU's foreign policy, suggesting that there is something distinct about the EU as an international actor. The role of norms is often emphasised, especially the role of human rights and democratic principles, which arguably are the core of EU foreign policy (se for example Manners 2002, 2008). However, in order to account for the emerging emphasis on democratic principles in the Mediterranean, this cannot simply be taken at face value – in particular since the promotion of norms traditionally has not been an important aspect of the policies towards the Mediterranean countries. Moreover, if democracy promotion is a normatively driven policy, it is necessary to ask what kind of norms are at play. To confirm that norms are important is not enough; one has to define more precisely what kind of norms are important. Thus, as previously noted, this study differentiates between contextual norms referring to identity and community, and norms of universal validity. I will hence examine the two following hypotheses:

Second hypothesis: The European Union emphasises the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean countries because of a sense of value-based duty founded on a special historical and cultural relationship between Europe and the Mediterranean.

Third hypothesis: The European Union emphasises the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean countries because of a sense of moral duty to promote democracy as a universal principle, regardless of cultural context.

In order to account for the role of different norms in the EU's democratisation policy, the analysis will be divided into two parts, in accordance with the hypotheses above: First, I will examine to what extent value-based arguments are used to justify democracy promotion – i.e. if the main thrust of the arguments refer to shared identity, community, and related notions of connectedness as a reason for emphasising democratic reform in

the Mediterranean countries. Then, in the second part I examine the role of moral arguments – is democracy promoted simply because it is seen as a universally valid principle in itself?

A Common (Id)entity and Other Values

Few would argue that the southern Mediterranean countries are a natural part of the European family. The four North-African and five Middle-East countries are by definition non-European – although they are neighbours, they are situated outside what is geographically defined as the European territory and are thus not eligible for membership in the European Union.²¹ Yet, the idea of a cultural and historical community across the Mediterranean basin is not uncommon, some even talk about the creation of a certain Euro-Mediterranean identity or entity (Emerson et. al. 2005:5, Del Sarto 2006; Nicolaïdis and Nicolaïdis 2006) This is so, even if the notion of a specific Mediterranean (id)entity is contested and the existence of Euro-Mediterranean identity has even less, if any, support. However, as concluded in the previous chapter, the EU presents its Mediterranean neighbours as its closest partners, with whom they share mutual interests, face common concerns and challenges, and invites to further political and economic integration and cooperation based on shared values with equal benefits. This argumentation could, rightly or wrongly, imply that the EU, or at least some of its members, harbour a sense of community with the Mediterranean. Certainly, it indicates a notion of a special relationship which could indicate value-based reasoning, however, this must be investigated further.

To start with, I will discuss how the EU perceives its relations with the Mediterranean and if the EU seemingly views their southern members as a part of a shared community – and what kind of community, if any, they then speak of. From the outset, there appears to be at least two potential ways in which value-based arguments could be used to justify democratisation policies in the Mediterranean. First, there is the possibility of a sense of kinship-based duty to help the Mediterranean countries based on solidarity and a common identity. This kind of argumentation was found by Sjursen to be particularly important in the Eastern enlargement process, where Eastern Europe, as 'the Kidnapped West', rightly returned to Europe (Sjursen 2002). However, there are few indications that the Mediterranean countries are perceived as one of 'us', which was the case with the Eastern European countries. Therefore, in relation to the Mediterranean, I suggest that a related

²¹ Although Morocco applied for membership in the EU in 1987.

Chapter 5 65

term – a *liaison-based duty* – referring to a special commitment towards close neighbours, a sense of connectedness rather than community, corresponds better. This term does not suggest a shared identity, but indicates that the geographical proximity and historical and cultural ties do connect the EU with its Mediterranean neighbours in a special way. Then I ask to what extent a sense of liaison-based duty and connectedness can explain the efforts of democracy promotion in the Mediterranean? Secondly, as an alternative value-based explanation, I will examine if the democracy promotion is rather driven by an EU-specific value of regionalism (Bicchi 2007:119; Smith 2003:69). With reference to its own successful story of integration among democratic states, it is possible that the EU seeks to export its own model to the Mediterranean – and thereby re-creating the Mediterranean in is own image. The promotion of democracy could be perceived as an essential instrument in this scheme. This explanation is also founded on values, but in contrast with the idea of a sense of liaison-based duty, it is not grounded in anything common - the aim is rather to get the Mediterranean states to integrate among themselves, separated from the EU, hence not to strengthen the ties between the EU and the Mediterranean.

Mediterranean - the Cradle of Europe or the Clash of Civilisations?

Although the Mediterranean is not a part of Europe, the cultural, historical and religious ties between the two are many and diverse. In Nicoladis and Nicoladis description: "the Mediterranean is both Europe's mirror and its extension, too close to ignore, too far to embrace. It's the cradle of its 'civilization' and its demographic future, yet also today's poor southern neighbour and the source of its discontents" (2006:337). Hence, the narratives of the Mediterranean are manifold; it is both the cradle of the European civilisation and the source of its dislikes. Considering its recent colonial history, one might add its bad conscience. Despite the disparate images portrayed of the relations between Europe and the Mediterranean, the EU accentuates its relations predominantly in terms of partnership and cooperation, and even beyond political and economic collaboration as they share a common past:

The Mediterranean region is the birth place of several great civilizations of the history of the world in which originated the three monotheistic religions (European Council 2003b:13).

This statement from the Euro-Mediterranean Presidency Conclusions illustrates how the Mediterranean is presented as 'the cradle of civilisations';

the European civilisation is rooted in the Mediterranean and in spite of all its differences, Europe and the Mediterranean share a common historical, cultural, and religious origin.

Europe and the Mediterranean and Middle East are joined together both by geography and shared history. The Mediterranean Sea has always linked the peoples of these areas. An increasing number of residents and citizens of the EU have origin in the Mediterranean and Middle East, further building the links at the most basic and personal level. Our geographical proximity is a longstanding reality underpinning our growing interdependence; our policies in the future years must reflect these realities and seek to ensure that they continue to develop positively (European Commission 2004b:2).

The geographical proximity between the EU and the Mediterranean is also regularly referred to, in particular in the ENP in which the partners are defined by their proximity to the EU, as neighbours. Moreover, the extract from the EU strategic Partnership with the Mediterranean and the Middle East above, points out the increasing number of Mediterranean immigrants in the EU, which also creates new and strengthen old cultural ties (and conflicts) across the Mediterranean basin. But do these attachments qualify as ideas of a community? Relations across the Mediterranean appear to be something more than a partnership, but still less than a community, indicating a sense of connectedness. In Trade Commissioner Mandelson's words:

Every effective political relationship has to be driven by a vision: a sense of where you want to go and why it matters. For Europe and the Southern Mediterranean that vision has always been strong. [...] It is shared history and geography, a shared sense that we are united by our common interests in a changing and globalising world (Mandelson 2008, emphasis added).

The Commissioner takes his characterisation even a step further:

The first mistake to make about the Euromed process is to think of it as two regions coming together. We are one region. Europe began beside the Mediterranean. So although the Barcelona is about the future of this region, it also reflects our common past (Mandelson 2007, emphasise added).

Chapter 5 67

In fact, High Representative Javier Solana has even indicated that there is some kind of identity already in place:

While recognising our interdependence, it has also created a *new* 'Mediterranean identity', a joint endeavour to confront common challenges (Solana 2005b, emphasise in original).

However, although Solana refers to a Mediterranean identity, he leaves the notion at that, it is therefore unclear what kind of identity he has in mind and which states make up this community (Malmvig 2007:95). Yet, it seems obvious that the southern EU member states have closer ties to the Mediterranean, implied by geographical, historical, and cultural proximities. This impression is reinforced by the fact that it was the southern member states that pushed for the inclusion of the Mediterranean in the ENP in the first place (Emerson et. al. 2005). These points suggest also that some member states would be closer to sharing an identity with the Mediterranean, than others. Moreover, even if Europe and the Mediterranean are bound by history, culture, and geography, there are nevertheless obvious differences between the two, both economically, politically, culturally, and religiously. The image presented in Huntington's (1993) (in)famous notion of 'the clash of civilisations' articulates the contrasts between the so-called Christian civilisation and its Moslem counterpart to the extreme. This scenario is not supported by the EU, as explained by Ferrero-Waldner: "one of the most important issues of our time is the so-called clash of civilisations. I say socalled because this term is a misnomer. What we are facing today is not a clash of civilisations but a clash of ignorance" (Ferrero-Waldner 2006b). Yet, whether based on ignorance or not, there is evidence that cultural contrasts are present and do have an impact on the Euro-Mediterranean relations, which the recent 2006 Muhammad cartoons controversy so harshly illustrated.

Then, what can we make of the relations between the EU and the Mediterranean? It seems that the communal dimension is founded on an idea of unity in divergence, rather than convergence. Working together based on a common past and heritage, yet respecting each other's sovereignty and differences, appears to be the picture. This is supported by ENP documents and speeches which frequently mention the importance of promoting democratic development, yet, by support and persuasion and not coercion. "The impetus for meaningful reform must always come from within. If that desire is not there, no amount of external assistance and pressure will build sustainable reform. This is why the EU believes in *encouraging not imposing*

reform (Ferrero Waldner 2006a, emphasis in original). Yet, "outsiders can and should play a role. They can help create a context conductive to political change. Once change is under way, they can support and reward reformist forces" – "Europe has a unique role to play. The time has come to answer Europe's democratic calling in the region [Middle East]" (Solana 2005a). Hence, shared values evolve on a voluntary basis, not by imposition. And although the Mediterranean is not a part of the European family, it seems to be invited to join a kind of community or special relationship based on shared values. As former President of the European Commission, Romano Prodi so precisely put it, when the Neighbourhood Policy still was in the making: "to build a new Europe but neglect the "cradle of Europe", the Mediterranean, would clearly be a mistake" (Prodi 2002a).

Based on this somewhat ambivalent image of the EU-Mediterranean relations, a shared identity and community-feeling are seemingly not how the EU perceives the relationship. However, there are indications that the relations are viewed as more than a partnership, pointing at something in between a partnership and community. I suggest that this expresses a sense of connectedness across the Mediterranean basin, which could indicate that the EU acts upon a sense of *liaison-based duty* towards its neighbours. On this basis, to what extent is democracy promotion justified by value-based arguments referring to a sense of connectedness or special relationship? This will be discussed in the following section, before I turn to the alternative explanation on the role of an EU-specific value of regionalism.

A Euro-Mediterranean Liaison?

As mentioned previously, Sjursen argues that a sense of kinship-based duty has been particularly important in mobilising support for enlargement to the Central- and East-European applicants (2002:508). Hence, ideas of shared identify and solidarity were important driving forces behind the enlargement. As considered in the previous section, this idea of shared identity is less likely to be found in the relation between the EU and the Mediterranean, even though it has been referred to. However, there are indications of a sense of connectedness across the basin, which leads me to ask: Can the emerging emphasis on democracy promotion be explained by a sense of a *liaison-based duty*?

The core principle of the European Neighbourhood Policy is very simple – we want to extend the prosperity, stability and security enjoyed by the EUs members to our neighbours. Why? Because our neighbours are important to us. You are our closest

partners and friends. We share practical interests, ideals, and aspirations, and we face common challenges like security, the environment, jobs and migration. We want a relationship which better reflects that (Ferrero-Waldner 2006d).

This statement from the Commissioner illustrates the EU's perception of its relationship with its neighbours, presenting them as friends and important to the EU, with whom they share a common reality, and want a stronger relationship with. Furthermore, the *Wider Europe – Neighbourhood* communication remarks that this is more than just any new initiative; it's a matter of duty:

The EU has a *duty*, not only towards its citizens and those of the new member states, but also towards its present and future neighbours to ensure continuing social cohesion and economic dynamism. The EU must act to promote the regional and subregional cooperation and integration that are preconditions for political stability, economic development and the reduction of poverty and social divisions in our shared environment (European Commission 2003a:3, emphasis added).

There is no explicit reference to democracy, but it indicates that EU's relationship towards its neighbours is of a special and important character. According to the External Relation Commissioner at the time, Chris Patten, the EU's enlargement will translate into a renewed European contribution, remarking that "for the first time, the EU has decided to consider its Mediterranean partners on a par with our neighbours in the Eastern Europe" (Patten 2003b), which suggests that the Mediterranean partners have gained in significance. In fact, helping its Mediterranean neighbours is a matter of obligation: "we strongly believe that it is in the duty of the European Union to support our Mediterranean neighbours" (Ibid, emphasis added). By applying the word 'duty' it suggests that the EU feels a commitment towards its Mediterranean neighbours that is beyond the ordinary, indicating that the EU feels a sense of connectedness towards them, and hence, perhaps also a liaisonbased duty to support them. Moreover, the extract above highlights the value of regional co-operation and integration for political stability. What does this particular commitment towards the Mediterranean neighbours and the importance of integration really tell us about the driving forces behind the promotion of democracy? In the following sections, I will discuss democracy promotion in relation to, first, ideas of common security, and then, with regards to strengthening the relations across the Mediterranean in general.

Security Communities

As discussed in the previous chapter, both security and economic dimensions were to a large extent presented as common interests based on shared values, and not as self-interests to enhance EU security or economic gains. The promotion of democracy was presented as a mutually beneficial process, a common objective which would ensure stability, security, and prosperity for both. This argumentation indicated some sort of connectedness – a feeling of group solidarity, which needs to be examined further. The *Wider Europe* Communication illustrates this image by its emphasis on shared values, common understanding, responsibilities, and democratic principles in regards to a common security:

Shared values, strong democratic institutions and a common understanding of the need to institutionalise respect for human rights will open the way closer and more open dialogue on the Union's Common Foreign and Security Policy (CFSP) and the development of the European Security and Defence Policy (ESPD). A shared neighbourhood implies burden-sharing and joint responsibility for addressing the threats to stability created by conflict and insecurity (European Commission 2003a:12)

The interpretation is also supported by the vision set out in the ENP strategy paper, which involves:

[...] a ring of countries, sharing the EU's fundamental values and objectives, drawn into an increasingly close relationship, going beyond co-operation to involve a significant measure of economic and political integration. This will bring enormous gains to all involved in terms of increased stability, security and well being (European Commission 2004a:5).

These descriptions of a common area of security and prosperity resemble the ideas related to the concept of 'security communities'. Is the EU promoting democracy based on the perception of a Euro-Mediterranean security community? Or, in order to push for further integration to establish one?

First of all, as noted, although the ENP is founded on bilateral relationships, and not regional as the Euro-Med, the ENP is layered on top of the regional partnership. The two dimensions are potentially intertwined and mutually reinforcing, hence democracy promotion at the bilateral level may well strengthen processes at the regional level. The concept of security

Chapter 5 71

communities, originally based on the ideas of Karl Deutch (1957), refers to an integrated region of states in which relations are characterised by expectations "that disputes will be settled peacefully and where its members possess a mutual identity, a common interpretation of reality and a set of shared values" (Malmvig 2007:94). Thus, a security community also involves ideas of shared identity, a sense of 'we-ness' or 'we-feeling' among states, which does not fit well with the EU-Mediterranean relations as described above. However, a common identity is not regarded as something given, but is created through cooperative practices and re-enforced perceptions of shared interest. Only states which learn how to achieve and maintain such feelings of community develop into security communities, "learning not balancing thus becomes part of the mechanism for change" (Adler and Crawford 2006:13).

Even if the EU and the Mediterranean do not share an identity at this point, 'common interpretation of reality' - 'perceptions of shared interests', and 'set of shared values', through 'cooperative practices', as described above, is quite descriptive of the reasoning presented in the ENP. Hence, the notion of a security community does in fact largely resemble the objectives set out in the ENP. The importance of shared values in a security community fit neatly with the emphasis on the promotion of shared values in the Neighbourhood Policy, which, because of its strong position as a core value of the EU, makes promotion of democracy particularly important. Adler and Crawford argue that the development of a security community relies both on the ability of individuals and institutions to turn structural potential into reality, and material and ideational recourses – i.e. expectations of increased security and welfare, but also normative concepts of proper and legitimate domestic and international behaviour, including democratic principles in order to legitimise the project "of seeking the adoption of a regional transnational identity" (Adler and Crawford 2006:13). To follow up on this idea: democracy promotion would be an essential element in the process of creating a regional identity and common security community across the Mediterranean basin. This also indicates that the promotion of democracy and the creation of a shared identity are necessary conditions to establish a 'security community', hence, in this picture security is still the main objective, yet notably, a common security. Turning back to the empirics, the data material shows that the ENP predominantly refers to 'security through economic and transformation' (Ferrero-Waldner 2006c), which indicates a process towards an end, and not the perception of something in its existence:

The European Neighbourhood Policy is [...], in essence, a reform policy. The aim is to use Europe's economic clout,

political expertise and 'gravitational pull' to promote greater prosperity, stability and security in our neighbours to the south and east. We achieve this by economic integration and through closer political relations and *in particular by investing in good governance* (Ferrero-Waldner 2006c, emphasis added).

Further economic and political integration is presented as the road to common security and the promotion of good governance is a particularly important instrument on that path. This statement also illustrates that a 'security community' is not viewed as being in existence, rather as something in the making or as a desired objective. However, according to Malmvig, if notions of common challenges and shared interests could encourage cooperation, which can, with time, lead to ideas of shared community and "conversely the decision to construct a community, enhance common perceptions of security, interests and threats" and create a "virtuous circle of cooperation and community formation" (2007:94–95).

The idea of a security community does resemble the objectives of the ENP, in which promotion of democracy is presented as a mutually beneficiary process to achieve common security, stability, and prosperity. However, the EU does not present the partnership as a 'security community'; it is rather depicted as a process towards it. In this process, it is clear that democracy promotion is emphasised as an essential element in order to extend what the EU calls 'shared values' to the Mediterranean, which also would be a prerequisite to approach the idea of a common identity. Even if the objective of democracy promotion in this context is still related to security, democracy is also viewed partly as an end in itself, as an element of establishing 'shared values' in their relations.

Enhanced Relations across the Basin

Not all value-based arguments for promoting democracy are related to common security. The material reveals arguments referring more generally to the relations between the EU and its Mediterranean neighbours. The European Council underlines the promotion of democratic reforms to strengthen its relations with the southern neighbours:

the EU wish to *enhance its relations* with [...] the Southern Mediterranean countries based on a long-term approach promoting democratic and economic reforms, sustainable development and trade (European Council 2003a:5).

Chapter 5 73

Such arguments emerge repeatedly throughout the data material, indicating that democratic principles are a premise for strengthening their relationship.

Ministers consider the European Neighbourhood Policy as an important tool which [...] enhances relations between the EU and Mediterranean Partner Countries, promoting and supporting reform based on common commitment to universal principles and shared values, in accordance with national priorities and building on their national reform programmes in political, economic, institutional and social sectors (European Council 2006a:3).

Hence the promotion of democracy is also justified by references to the strengthening of the relations between them. This is also, as above, portrayed as a mutually beneficial process, taking the EU-Mediterranean relationship to the next level. Even if this argumentation differs from that which refer to common security, it is interconnected, implying that a sense of *liaison-based duty* based on a *sense of connectedness* are what drives the promotion of democracy and shall take their relationship to the next level.

Before I draw any further conclusions, I will examine the second possible value-based explanation; the role of an EU-specific value of regionalism.

The EU as a Role Model: Regionalism

As noted, despite the bilateral structure of the ENP, the programme emphasises the continued importance of regionalism, often with reference to the Euro-Med partnership. On the relationship between the two frameworks, and the bilateral and regional processes, the Commission states:

The ENP is primarily bilateral, but interlinks with regional and sub-regional processes. The Euro-Mediterranean Partnership remains a cornerstone for the EU's interaction with its southern neighbours. The ENP and the Euro-Mediterranean Partnership is mutually reinforcing: the bilateral frameworks of the ENP are better suited to promotion internal reforms, while the Euro-Mediterranean cooperation framework provides the regional context (European Commission 2007a:3).

Hence, although regionalism is not a primary concern for the ENP, reforms at the bilateral level, including political reforms, are viewed as mutually reinforcing the regionalisation processes of the Barcelona Process.

In contrast to the discussion above on common identity or community as a driving force for democratisation, this section is not concerned with what is communal, but rather an EU-specific value of regionalism – a desire to reshape the Mediterranean in its own image. In order to re-create itself, democratic governance, as a core value of the EU, is hence a prerequisite. Thus the promotion of democracy could be emphasised as a part of this project. And as indicated above, democracy promotion can be interlinked with region-building in the Mediterranean. But first, what are these ideas of regionalism as an EU-specific value about?

According to Bicchi, the idea of promoting regionalism is definitely a European one (2006:153). She argues that it is "a norm in the sense that the EU aims at establishing a standard of proper behaviour around which actors' expectations would converge" (Bicchi 2007:119). This is also linked to what Karen Smith refers to as the notion of a 'propensity to reproduce itself'²², which she refers to as a form of narcissism, and underlines that "if there is one objective [...] which clearly derives from the nature of the EU itself, it is the promotion of regional cooperation" (Smith 2003:70). The EU's promotion of regional cooperation is, according to Smith, about first, the practice of classifying neighbouring countries as a group, as the EU has done with the 'Mediterranean', and secondly the encouragement of the countries grouped together to cooperate with each other (ibid:69-70). This fits with some of the ideas presented by the Commission on the ENP: "in the context of the new EU neighbourhood policy, further regional and sub-regional cooperation and integration amongst the southern Mediterranean will be strongly encouraged" (European Commission 2003a:8).

Turning back to the question to be investigated: is there any evidence that democracy is promoted in order to build a Mediterranean region modelled after the EU? As the extracts above illustrated, the Neighbourhood Policy is clearly concerned with regionalism. The President of the Commission, José Manuel Barroso, also links regionalism to the EU's model by referring to the EU's own history of regional integration:

[L]et's not forget the regional dimension. Based on our own successful experience of regional integration in the EU, we consider that a number of common challenges can only be addressed through regional integration. That is why we will

_

²² She refers to Bretherton and Vogel (1999:249).

continue to promote regional and sub-regional cooperation among our neighbours (Barroso 2007).

Of the arguments of promoting democracy there are some indications that democratisation is viewed as a contributing factor in the creation of a Mediterranean region. At the Euro-Mediterranean Conference of Ministers of Foreign Affairs, the parties reaffirmed,

"their commitment to the objective of achieving a common area of peace, stability and shared prosperity in the Mediterranean region. This objective requires a comprehensive approach to achieving peace, security and stability, strengthening democracy, the rule of law and respect for human rights [...]" (European Council 2006a:1-2, emphasis added).

Such statements support the idea that democracy is an element in establishing a Mediterranean region. However, there are few arguments that link democratisation to regional-building in the data material. There is a stronger tendency in the argumentation that democracy promotion, in general, contributes to prosperity, stability and peace to the neighbourhood, which indicates that it is founded on a more universal reasoning. This will be examined further in the last part of this chapter.

Pattern

To sum up, despite the many narratives on the relationship between the EU and the Mediterranean, the EU accentuates the relations in terms of partnership, cooperation and even beyond that. Hence, even if EU-Mediterranean relations appear to be less than a community – it is seemingly more than a partnership, which led me to suggest that a sense of connectedness corresponds better with how the EU perceives its relation with the Mediterranean. Based on this special relationship, democracy promotion could be driven by a sense of a liaison-based duty towards its southern neighbours. This was investigated and found to be expressed in two different, but interconnected, ways.

Firstly, there is a large amount of arguments referring to democracy promotion as an element of common security and prosperity, which evokes ideas of a 'security community' across the Mediterranean. Rather than referring to common security as something in existence, democratic principles seem to be promoted in order to render further integration across the Mediterranean possible, and in the long term perhaps even create a

community. As mentioned, 'security communities' are social structures that constitute the identities and interest of their members through discursive and institutional practices, however, they are also based on political decisions to create a common identity and a we-feeling (Malmvig 2007:94). As yet, the EU does not perceive a security community to be established, but rather a common security or perhaps even a 'security community' as is presented as a desired objective. In order to further this process, arguments to promote democracy are largely justified by their role in this process. Democracy is hence presented as a means to reach common security, but seemingly also partly as an end in itself, in order to establish the idea of 'shared values' in the EU-Mediterranean relations. Secondly, the EU seems to promote democracy in order to strengthen the relations between its member states and its wider relations. By promoting shared values, the EU argues that it is able to enhance relations across the Mediterranean. This also indicates that a sense of connectedness between the two is what drives the promotion of democracy forward. Even if these two types of arguments are different, they are obviously interconnected, both indicate that democratic principles will further the integration across the Mediterranean and depict it as a mutually beneficiary process.

In the second part, an alternative interpretation of value-based explanations was introduced, suggesting that an EU-specific value of regionalism is what drives the promotion of democracy. This explanation however has little support in the material. Although region-building appears to be an important part of the EU-Mediterranean relations, the arguments to promote democracy in the Neighbourhood Policy are in no significant degree referring to a separate process of region-building in the Mediterranean. Yet, as concluded above, some indications of a moral responsibility to democratise were identified, which is the topic of the discussion in the following section.

Rights: Universal principles

Turing to the third hypothesis on the EU's democracy promotion, I leave the notions of shared identity and community behind, as well as the ideas of European or EU-specific values. The hypothesis to be examined suggests rather that the EU's emerging democracy promotion can be explained as a sense of moral duty, due to the universal validity of democratic principles, regardless of any cultural context. Hence, following this assertion, democracy is promoted because of its universality, as a value in itself or because of other universal norms. This section is structured as follows: I will briefly discuss democracy as a universal norm, before I move on to examine the extent to which the EU democracy promotion has been justified by moral arguments.

First, I will discuss if the arguments indicate a sense of moral responsibility to promote democracy in the Mediterranean, then I will examine in more detail to what extent the argumentation refers to other universally applicable norms, such as peace, justice, and human rights.

Democracy – A Universal Norm

As an international norm, democracy is stronger today than ever before – it is widely held as an ideal system of governance – and its principles appeal to peoples across cultural contexts (McFaul 2004:148). However, despite its strength, the universality of democracy is not uncontested. Remarks on eurocentrism, neo-imperialism and the imposition of Western values are raised from time to time. Yet, there is a clear distinction between Western models of democracy and 'democratic principles' as such (Gerrits 2007:60). Overall, there is an increasing support for the universality of democratic principles. Amartya Sen argues in favour of its universal nature:

The value of democracy includes its *intrinsic importance* in human life, its *instrumental role* in generating political incentives, and its *constructive function* in the formation of values (and in understanding the force and feasibility of claims of needs, rights, and duties). These merits are not regional in character. Nor is the advocacy of discipline or order (Sen 1999).

I will not discuss this in any more depth, but I conclude that democracy as a universal norm enjoys substantial support and moreover, that the universality of democratic principles differs from any specific democratic models or institutions, which will always vary.

Turning back to the empirics, this distinction is also recognised by the EU, and as previously mentioned, it is in fact stated as one of the reasons why the EU prefers to use 'democratic principles' rather than 'democracy' in its relations with third states (see chapter three). The idea that each country and society is free to choose and develop its own model of democracy, is laid down as a basic principle (European Commission 1998:5), and is repeated in the Barcelona Declaration as well as the Neighbourhood Policy. As remarked by Solana: "democracy [...] has a very diverse ancestry. We should recognise that. Therefore, while democracy is a universal aspiration, its manifestations will not be uniform" (Solana 2005c, emphasis added).

A Moral Responsibility?

It seems that the EU considers democracy to be a universal aspiration for people everywhere, regardless of cultural context. Thus, to what extent is democracy promotion in the Mediterranean justified as a moral imperative, or by reference to its universality? The EU's own experience with democratic transitions has gradually become quite extensive, especially after the Eastern enlargement process. This particular expertise is emphasised by Commissioner Ferrero-Waldner:

The EU has an impressive record in democracy-building, including in those countries which are now new member states. We *should* use this experience to help build stable democracies in the Mediterranean (Ferrero-Waldner 2005a).

This statement indicates that the EU has a duty to promote democracy, not because of a sense of community solidarity, but rather because of its expertise. The EU should help democratic transition in the Mediterranean, because it can. This indicates a moral responsibility based on the logic – if you can help – you should. This sense of moral responsibility is also reflected in statements emphasising that the ENP's aim is not to settle for the status quo "but of committing the European Union to support the aspirations of the people of our neighbouring countries to full political freedom, with democracy and justice" (European Parliament 2005:5). Again, supporting peoples' universal aspirations for democracy is presented as a moral commitment. However, explicit references to moral 'duty', 'responsibility' and 'commitment' do not appear frequently in the data material. Somewhat more frequent are arguments which emphasise the importance of building democracy without any reference to interests or community – thus, just stating democracy as a desired value in itself:

Ministers stress the importance, in accordance with their internationally agreed obligations, of strengthening democracy [...] (European Council 2006a:3).

Hence, there are some indications that the EU is driven by a sense of moral responsibility to promote democracy; it is however neither a prominent nor striking tendency. However, in compound arguments, referring to self-interests, values, and rights, the issue of moral duty sometimes emerges: "the European Union has major interests in the stability, prosperity, and democracy of its neighbours – not to speak of its moral and political obligation towards them" (Verhaugen 2004). This suggests that arguments related to a

sense of moral duty to promote democracy, rather is an adjusting feature in the material, than a main element.

Universal Norms and Benefits

Is democracy promoted in order to provide for other universal norms or benefits? More particularly, is democracy promotion a peace strategy? To start with, much has been written on relations between democracy and peace. Most famous is the democratic peace hypothesis which presupposes that democracies are more peaceful than other regimes (Doyle 1997; Russett and Moaz 1993). This hypothesis is assumed to have influenced the aspirations to promote democracy world-wide as a security strategy. Yet, critics have pointed out that the process of democratisation itself may be highly destabilising, thus far from peaceful. As discussed in chapter four, this is also recognised by the EU, which indicates that, based on the traditional assumptions of rational choice theory, democratisation policy is a rather dubious security strategy. I will not discuss this any further, however, since peace, stability, and security are highly interconnected concepts, democracy promotion as a peace strategy relates to the same analytical distinction as security – between ensuring peace (and security) for the EU in particular and as a means for international peace (and security) - i.e. a universal good. In this section, it is international peace as a universal good that will be examined.

To what extent is democracy promotion justified with reference to other universal norms or benefits? The argumentation is to a certain extent referring to general goods, but this kind of moral consideration is not that commonly used. A brilliant example of moral argumentation is provided for in a speech on election support, in which Chris Patten emphasises the universal qualities of supporting democratic elections:

Elections not only legitimize political authority and promote sustainable governance, they also contribute to conflict resolution and reconciliation, and they help achieve peace. This is why, for the EU, as for all of you, supporting electoral processes is not just a moral imperative [...]. Nor it is just our legal duty to promote and protect the rights enshrines in the Universal Declaration. The deep reason why we are engaged in election support is because we believe that democracy and respect for human rights are the best guarantors for stability and prosperity — which bring dividends to the international community as a whole, in terms of trade, security, cultural and human exchanges" (Patten 2004).

Not only does this extract point towards the moral and legal duty of promoting democratic elections, Chris Patten also underlines its contributions to peace, rights in the Universal declaration, and its general benefits for the international community as a whole. This statement clearly indicates a moral reasoning to promote democracy. This is reaffirmed by the current Commissioner, who states that the EU attaches great importance to,

promoting democracy, good governance and human rights around the world. For their own sake, but also because they are the cornerstones of peace and human development [...]. As an organisation founded on respect for human rights, democracy and the rule of law, we believe democracy is inherently valuable and universally desirable. And we are morally obliged to foster those values in all our international partners (Ferrero-Waldner 2006f).

However, neither Patten nor Ferrero-Waldner are talking in specific about the ENP or the Mediterranean, their speeches are based on general considerations. The ENP-discourse is in fact scarcely imprinted with such explicit and comprehensive moral considerations. The following statement by the Commission is more characteristic for the Neighbourhood Policy:

The Union's aim is to promote peace, its values and the well-being of its peoples. In its relations with the wider world, it aims at upholding and promoting these values (European Commission 2004a:12).

There are also some indications that democracy is promoted to contribute to conflict resolution and peace. Commissioner Ferrero-Waldner states that ENP:

is not in itself a conflict prevention or settlement mechanism. But trough promoting democracy and regional cooperation, boosting national reform programmes and improving the socioeconomic prospects of the region, it can contribute to a more positive climate for conflict settlement (Ferrero-Waldner 2006e).

To summarise, moral reasoning seemingly underpins the EU's democracy promotion in general, but is not predominantly emphasised, either in the ENP or towards its Mediterranean neighbours, which indicates that a sense of

moral commitment is not the main driving force in the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean.

Pattern

The EU considers democratic principles to be a universal aspiration, a desire of all people, regardless of cultural context. The first part of the analysis, on moral responsibility to promote democracy, gave some indication of a certain sense of moral 'duty' or 'commitment' due to the EU's long experience of democracy-building. However, the notion of a moral responsibility was found to be more of an adjusting feature in the argumentation than a predominant tendency. The second part revealed a similar pattern in regards to other universal norms or benefits, which supports the idea that moral reasoning to promote democracy has seemingly an adjusting role in the Neighbourhood Policy.

Chapter Conclusion

In this chapter I have investigated the validity of hypotheses two and three, in order to examine to what extent the EU's democracy promotion in the Mediterranean is a normatively driven policy. The hypotheses make different assertions based on the analytical distinction between contextual values – i.e shared identity, community, or related notions of connectedness, and universal norms, regardless of cultural context. A systematic investigation of the arguments to promote democracy has given extensive support to the second hypothesis, whereas the third has been found to have more of an adjusting role.

Firstly, despite the many and diverse narratives on the Mediterranean, the EU accentuates its relationship with the Mediterranean largely in terms of partnership and even beyond, indicating what I have labelled a sense of connectedness. Based on these relations, I have investigated if democracy promotion in the Mediterranean is driven by a liaison-based duty. The material shows that the promotion of democracy is largely depicted and justified as a mutually beneficiary process, however it points in two different, but interconnected directions: first, by referring to common stability, security and prosperity, it resembles the idea of a 'security community'. Secondly, it refers to enhanced and more integrated relations across the Mediterranean. This indicates that democracy is promoted both as a means to establish common security and enhanced relations, but also partly as a value in itself, by referring to the establishment of 'shared values'. These kinds of arguments occur repeatedly throughout the whole data material, giving the second hypothesis

- that the EU promotes democracy because of a value-based duty to strengthen the special relationship across the Mediterranean - substantial support.

I have also looked into the possibility of an EU-specific value of regionalism as a driving force for democracy promotion. The idea of region-building is clearly present in the EU's policies towards the Mediterranean, however, democracy promotion is only partly linked to these efforts in the ENP, hence, this part of the examination of the second hypothesis has little support.

Secondly, democratic principles are considered by the EU to be a universal aspiration, and hence the possibility of a moral duty to promote democracy has been examined. The data material gave some indication that the EU is in fact driven by moral considerations. The EU has the experience and expertise to assist democratic transitions, and should therefore do so, according to the argument. There are also some moral arguments to democratise with reference to other universal norms and benefits for all. However, all in all, the moral considerations have, as noted above, more of an adjusting nature in the justifications of democracy promotion in the Mediterranean, the third hypothesis is therefore found to have less support, but still some.

Chapter 6

Concluding Remarks

The focus of this study has been the EU's emerging emphasis on democracy promotion in the Mediterranean with the launch of the European Neighbourhood Policy. This led me to posit two related questions to be investigated. Firstly, to what extent has the ENP brought about a greater emphasis on democracy promotion in the Mediterranean? And secondly, how can an emerging emphasis be accounted for? Due to the recent and developing nature of the research topic, an important reservation to the study is that the efficiency and consistency of the implementation are not yet possible to assess, and hence this analysis is confined to the policy as it is presented and justified by the EU. In broad outline, this is what I found:

Firstly, by comparing democracy promotion in the ENP to the Euro-Med initiatives, I concluded that although the ENP is not a radical departure, it seems more committed to democracy promotion than the previous initiatives in the Euro-Mediterranean Partnership. Secondly, through an analytical discourse analysis, I found that this emerging emphasis on democratic principles could not be explained by utility considerations only. Although security self-interests explained the democratisation policies to a certain extent, an extensive amount of arguments pointed in differing directions. Rather, I found that values, and more specifically, a sense of a *liaison-based duty* to assist close neighbours were used to justify the focus on democracy promotion; and finally, I found that moral commitments appeared to play a role, even if only an adjusting one.

What Kind of Foreign Policy?

What can we learn from these findings; is ENP's democracy promotion a norm-based or interest-based foreign policy? What characterises EU foreign policy is still widely disputed, especially whether it has a so-called normative dimension. Can the present study add anything to the debate? First of all, this analysis suggests that to understand why democracy promotion has become prioritised in the ENP the importance of norms for foreign policy behaviour

must be taken into account. Secondly, my findings presented above indicate a multifaceted explanation, supporting all three hypotheses, and anchored in both traditional rationalist and normative (constructivist) assumptions. The EU's democracy promotion seems to be driven by both self-interests and values, yet more inclined towards the latter, whereas moral consideration appeared to be more of a modifying feature behind the policy. Hence, this study presents a nuanced picture of the reasoning behind the EU's democratisation policies:

The EU has major security and economic interests in the Mediterranean. It is clear that there are a number of risks and challenges stemming from the region which trouble the EU, and moreover that there is a great economic potential for new markets and financial investments. Last but not least, the region possesses large energy resources. Thus, there is little doubt that the Mediterranean is a region of great strategic importance. This is, as discussed in Chapter 4, also imprinted in the democracy promotion discourse, primarily in relation to security interests. However, even though I traced security selfinterest in the arguments, it was found to be challenged from two angles. Firstly, by a security-democratisation dilemma - in traditional rationalist terms, a security strategy knowingly imprinted with stability risks would not be considered a rational choice. Secondly, arguments and justifications indicating that a sense of connectedness between the EU and the Mediterranean appeared to be particularly important to mobilise this policy. The promotion of democracy was predominantly justified by reference to EU-Mediterranean shared interests, common concerns, and mutual gains, evoking a sense of a liaison-based duty to assist close neighbours. This is related primarily to common security, the establishment of 'shared values', and efforts to tighten the relations between the EU and the Mediterranean. This is interesting, both because it counters rationalist assumptions, and because the EU-Mediterranean relations often are depicted in terms of differences and even clashes. Finally, as noted above, moral commitments appeared to have an adjusting role in the reasoning behind the policy. Hence, these findings suggest that the EU's democracy promotion in the Mediterranean is neither a purely interest-based nor norm-based policy, rather it has elements of both, yet with a greater emphasis upon the latter.

The notions of the EU as a normative, civilian, or ethical power continue to provoke debate. Does this study support or weaken the notion of the EU as a normative power? Democracy promotion in the EU's neighbourhood appears to fit with Duchêne's idea that a civilian power promotes the ideals of democracy, human rights, economic growth, and international

cooperation through its foreign policy (Stavridis 2001:6). A greater emphasis on democracy promotion in the Mediterranean is thereby strengthening this part of Duchêne's argument. This also corresponds well with Manners' claim that the EU is a normative power in the world due to its promotion of normative principles that are generally acknowledged (Manners 2008:46). Yet, in his original notion of normative power, he agued that the EU was predisposed to act in a normative way, hence, his argument was founded on what the EU is rather than what it does and what it says (Manners 2002:252). Instead of just assuming that the internal characteristics determine the EU's role, it has been remarked that the so-called normative power Europe argument is in need for more precise criteria and assessment standards in order to be able to qualify for any such normative claims (Sjursen 2007b). Lisbeth Aggestam suggests to "focus on the ethical dilemmas involved in choosing either the military or civilian instruments in foreign policy; that is on the justifications behind exercise of power" (Aggestam 2008:3, emphasis added).

In line with the remarks above, by investigating how the EU justifies its policies, this analysis elucidates an important dimension of the idea of a normative power Europe, which has not yet been given sufficient attention in the debate – namely what the policies in fact are ascribed to. As already remarked, this study indicates that EU democracy promotion is largely founded on a special duty towards its close neighbours, a sense of liaison-based duty, more than expectations of private gains. Hence an important contribution to the debate is that the EU seems to acts as more than a self-interest maximiser in its foreign policy. In fact, the EU appears to act based on both a value-based duty and on moral commitments to universal aspirations. Thus, the promotion of democracy in the Mediterranean seems to be placed between what is done because it is 'good for the EU', and what is done because it ought to be done, as a value-based or moral duty.

To a certain extent, these findings endorse the idea of ENP democracy promotion as a normative foreign policy, however, further scrutinising and adjustments are required – what has been said must also be transferred into action. Therefore, to what extent ENP democracy promotion substantiates the EU normative power argument depends as much on its capacity as on its willingness to follow it through. As remarked by Nicolaïdis and Nicolaïdis, "normative power can only be applied credible under a key condition: consistency between internal policies and external prescriptions and actions" (2006:348). This requirement is echoed repeatedly by scholars, placing consistency between words and deeds at the core of the normative power Europe argument. The recent notion of 'ethical power Europe' has also

pushed in this direction by accentuating what the EU 'does' over what it 'is' (Aggestam 2008:1). In order to qualify for ENP democracy promotion beyond what and why it 'is', the hard question of consistency in the EU's actions must also be taken into account. That is, however, beyond the scope of this analysis and therefore calls for future research to be undertaken. Notably, as remarked by Matlary, "if rhetoric promises more than it can deliver, the ethical implications are grave" (2008:143), and that being the case would certainly not support the notion of the EU as a normative power.

Theoretical Implications

As noted in Chapter 2, there is a substantial debate on how to understand and analyse behaviour in international relations. I outlined three possible conceptions of rational action; instrumental, contextual and communicative. The latter, which is used as an underlying assumption in this study, includes elements of the former two, and thus introduces a much broader understanding of how rationality should be conceived. The main point is that actors have the ability to reach mutual understanding through processes of communication. This study has shown that applying a wider concept of rationality can be useful; it has provided us with a much richer explanation than a pure instrumental analysis would have done. Although any attempt of generalisation is beyond the scope of this study, it can still provide some insights for the general debate. Firstly, rational choice appears to explain behaviour to a certain extent; hence this thesis does not rule out that actors can behave utility maximising. However, a rational choice-based approach seems to exclude other essential features and is thus not able to capture the whole story – action is embedded in more than cost-benefit calculations. Secondly, on this basis, this study has confirmed that norms are more than constraints for action; they can in fact be constitutive of actors' behaviour. Action should therefore not be deemed irrational if it does not follow utility considerations, it may just follow a different kind of rationality. Thirdly, not only is a constructivist approach fruitful in revealing how norms can constitute actors' behaviour, the particular approach applied in this study makes it possible to make an analytical distinction between different norms, and thereby reveal an even more precise pattern of reasoning - which in this case indicated that a sense of value-based duty was especially important to understand democracy promotion in the ENP, whereas moral commitments played more of an adjusting role. The distinction between different norms has hence proven to be particularly useful in this analysis, and could also be relevant to understand and assess the so-called normative features in other parts of the EU's foreign policy. Hence, this perspective might bring further

insights to research on the EU as an international actor in specific terms, and in research on international relations more generally.

Further Research

Based on the present study, it is tempting to suggest that the conventional approaches for studying international relations are not sufficient to understand EU foreign policy; however, a single case study is not enough to substantiate such a claim. That notwithstanding, this case study supports perspectives claiming that norms are important for understanding EU's behaviour in international relations - not simply as constraints on action - but because they are found valid in themselves. This has also been supported by previous studies (se for example Riddervold 2002, 2008; Sjursen 2002) and can in that sense contribute to strengthen this perspective. This thesis has suggested that a sense of connectedness and liaison-based duty towards close neighbours can help understand why democracy promotion has become a priority in the new Neighbourhood Policy. However, one cannot establish these particular findings beyond the present study, more research is required to strengthen these arguments. Firstly, by investigating whether a sense of liaison-based duty is present towards the other partner states in the Neighbourhood Policy; one could perhaps assume that it would play a role in the EU's relations with the Eastern European partners, but less so with the Union's relations with the partner states in the Caucasus. Secondly, more research is also necessary to investigate whether other foreign policy areas are driven by a norm-based reasoning. Most importantly, more research is required to ascertain to what extent the EU is consistent in the implementation of its democratisation policies. This is especially important in the Mediterranean region due to the EU's weak record of consistency in this area in the past. However, as former External Affairs Commissioner Chris Patten has put it: "if we truly believe that democracy is a universal aspiration, we need to treat it like one" (2003a). In any case, the future of the ENP is still to be written.

Table of Authorities

Literature

- Adcock, Robert & Collier, David (2001): "Measurement Validity: A Shared Standard for Qualitative and Quantitative Research", *American Political Science Review*, Vol.95, No.3, pp. 529-546.
- Adler, Emanuel (2006) "Constructivism and International Relations" in: Walter Carlsnaes, Thomas Risse and Beth A. Simmons (eds.), *Handbook of International* Relations, London: Sage, pp.95–118.
- Adler, Emanuel and Beverly Crawford (2006) "Normative Power: The European Practice of Region-Building and the Case of the Euro-Mediterranean Partnership" in: Adler et.al (eds.) *The Convergence of Civilizations, Constructing a Mediterranean Region* Toronto: University of Toronto Press, pp.3–47.
- Aggestam, Lisbeth (2008) "Introduction: ethical power Europe?" in: *International Affairs*, Vol.84, No.1, pp.1-11.
- Aliboni, Roberto (2005) "The Geopolitical Implications of the European Neighbourhood Policy" in: *European Foreign Affairs Review*, Vol.10, No.1, pp.1-16.
- Balfour, Rosa (2006) "Principles of democracy and human rights" in Sonia Lucarelli and Ian Manners (eds.) *Values and Principles in European Union Foreign Policy*, New York: Routledge, pp.114-129.
- Barbé, Esther and Elisabeth Johansson-Nogués (2008) "The EU as a modest force for good': The European Neighbourhood Policy" in: *International Affairs*, Vol.84, No.1, pp.81-96.

- Bretherton, Charlotte and John Vogler (1999) *The European Union as a Global Actor* London: Routledge.
- Bicchi, Federica (2006) "The European Origins of the Euro-Mediterranean Practices" in: Adler et.al (eds.) The Convergence of Civilizations, Constructing a Mediterranean Region Toronto: University of Toronto Press, pp.137-167.
- Bicchi, Federica (2007) "Our size fits all' normative power Europe and the Mediterranean" in Helene Sjursen (ed.) Civilian or Military Power. European Foreign Policy in Perspective, London and New York: Routledge, pp.118-135.
- Bishop, Sven (2003) Euro-Mediterranean Security. A Search for Partnership, Alderhot: Ashgate.
- Bishop, Sven (2004) "European Security Strategy. Implementing a Distinctive Approach to Security" in *Sécurité & Stratégie*, Paper No. 82. Brussels: The Royal Defence College.
- Bosse, Giselle (2007) "Values in the EU's Neighbourhood Policy: Political Rethoric or Reflection of a Coherent Policy?" in: *European Political Economy Review*, No.7, pp.38-62.
- Burnell, Peter (2005) "Political Strategies of External Support for Democratization" in *Foreign Policy Analysis* Vol.1, No.3, pp.361–384.
- Börzel, Tanja and Thomas Risse (2007) "Venus Approaching Mars? The EU as an Emerging Civilian World Power" *Working Paper Draft*, Prepared for the Bi-Annual Conference of the European Union Studies Association (EUSA), Montreal, Canada, May 17-19, 2007.
- Dahl, Robert (1971) *Polyarchy: Participation and Opposition.* New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Deutch, Karl et. al. (1957) Political Community and the North Atlantic Area: International Organization in light of Historical Experience, Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Del Sarto, Raffaella A. (2006) "Region-building, European Union Normative Power, and Contested Identities: The Case of Israel" in: Adler et.al (eds.) *The Convergence of Civilizations, Constructing a*

- Mediterranean Region Toronto: University of Toronto Press, pp. 296-333.
- Del Sarto, Raffaella A. and Schumacher, Tobias (2005) "From the EMP to ENP: What's at Stake with the European Neighbourhood Policy towards the Southern Mediterranean" in *European Foreign Affairs Review*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 17–38.
- Diez, Thomas and Jill Steans (2005) "A useful dialogue? Habermas and International Relations" in *Review of International Studies*, Vol.31, No.1, pp.127-140.
- Doyle, Michael W. (1997) Ways of War and Peace. Realism, Liberalism, and Socialism, New York and London: W. W. Norton.
- Duchêne, François (1972) "Europe's role in world peace" in: R. Mayne (ed.) Europe Tomorrow: Sixteen Europeans Look Ahead London: Fontana.
- Dunne, Tim and Nicholas J. Wheeler (2001) "Blair's Britain: a force of good in the world?" in Karen E. Smith and Margot Light (eds.) *Ethics and Foreign Policy* Cambridge: University press, pp.167-184.
- Emerson, Michael and Gergana Noutcheva (2005) "From Barcelona Process to Neighbourhood Policy. Assessments and Open Issues", CEPS Working Document, No.220.
- Emerson et. al. (2005) "The Reluctant Debutant. The European Union as Promoter of Democracy in its Neighbourhood", CEPS Working Document, No.223.
- Eriksen, Erik Oddvar (1999) "Towards a Logic of Justification. On the Possibility of a Post-national Solidarity" in: Morten Egeberg and Per Lægreid (eds.) Organizing Political Institutions. Essays for Johan P. Olsen. Oslo: Scandinavian University Press, pp.215-244.
- Eriksen, Erik Oddvar and Jarle Weigård (1997) "Conceptualizing Polictics. Strategic or communicative rationality?" in: *Scandinavian Political Studies*, Vol.20, No.3, pp.219–241.

- Eriksen, Erik Oddvar and Jarle Weigård (1999) Kommunikativ handling og deliberativt demokrati. Jürgen Habermas' teori om politikk og samfunn, Bergen: Bokforlaget.
- Eriksen, Erik Oddvar and Jarle Weigård (2003) Understanding Habermas. On Communicative Action and Deliberative Democracy, London:Continuum.
- Fierro, Elena (2003) The EU's Approach to Human Rights Conditionality in Practice, The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers.
- Finlayson, James Gordon (2005) *Habermas. A very Short Introduction* New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gerrits, André (2007) "Its there a distinct European democratic model to promote?" in Marieke van Doorn and Roel von Meijenfeldt (eds.) *Democracy Europe's Core Value*, Delft: Eburon Academic Publishers, pp.51-63.
- Gillespie, Richard and Richard Youngs (2002) "Themes in European Democracy Promotion" in: Democratization, Vol.9, No.1, pp.1-16.
- Gillespie, Richard (2006) "A Political Agenda for Region-Building? The Euro-Mediterranean Partnership and Democracy Promotion in North Africa" in: Adler et.al (eds.) *The Convergence of Civilizations, Constructing a Mediterranean Region* Toronto: University of Toronto Press, pp.83-108.
- Hellevik, Ottar (2002) Forskningmetode i sosiologi og statsvitenskap, 7th ed. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Habermas, Jürgen (1993) Justification and Application. Remarks on Discourse Ethics, Cambridge (Massachusetts), London: MIT Press.
- Habermas, Jürgen (1996) Between Facts and Norms. Contributions to Discourse Theory of Law and Democracy, Cambridge (Massachusetts): MIT Press.
- Herrman, Richard K. (2006) "Linking Theory to Evidence in International Relations" in: Walter Carlsnaes, Thomas Risse and Beth A. Simmons (eds.), *Handbook of International* Relations, London: Sage, pp.119–136.

- Holm, Ulla (2004) "The EU's Security Policy Towards the Mediterranean. An impossible combination of export of European Political values and Anti-Terror Measures?" DIIS Working Paper, No.2004/13.
- Hill, Christopher (2004) "Renationalizing or Regrouping? The EU foreign policy since 11 September 2001" in: *Journal of Common Market Studies*, Vol.42, No.1, pp.143-163.
- Hüllen, Vera van and Andreas Stahn (2007) "Why semi-authoritarians regimes may be more troublesome than autocracies: US and EU strategies of democracy promotion in the Mediterranean and the Newly Independent States" Working paper, prepared for the 2007 Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association, August 30-September 2, 2007.
- Huntington, Samuel P (1993) "The Clash of Civilizations" in: *Foreign Affairs*, Vol.72, No.3, pp.22-49.
- Hyde-Price, Adrian (2007) "Normative' power Europe: how can this be?" in: Helene Sjursen (ed.) Civilian or Military Power? European Foreign Policy in Perspective London: Routledge, pp.49-66.
- Jünemann, Annette (2003) "Security Building in the Mediterranean after September 11." in: Annette Jünemann (ed.) Euro-Mediterranean Relations after September 11, London: Frank Cass, pp.1-20.
- Kelly, Judith (2006) "New Wine in Old Wineskins: Promoting political reforms through the ENP" in *Journal for Common Market Studies*, Vol.44, No.1, pp.29-55.
- Keohane, Daniel (2008) "The Absent Friend: EU Foreign Policy and Counter-Terrorism" *Journal of Common Market Studies*, Vol.48, No.1 pp.125-146.
- Kratochwil, Friedrich V. (1989) *Rules, Norms and Decisions*, Cambridge, New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Lerch, Marika and Guido Schwellnus (2007) "Normative by nature?" in: Helene Sjursen (ed.) Civilian or Military Power? European Foreign Policy in Perspective London: Routledge, pp.136–153.

- Light, Margot (2001) "Exporting democracy" in Karen E. Smith and Margot Light (eds.) *Ethics and Foreign Policy* Cambridge: University press, pp.75–92.
- Lipschutz, Ronnie D. (1995) "On Security" in: Lipschutz, Ronnie D. (ed.) On Security New York: Columbia University Press.
- Magen, Amichai (2006)"The shadow of enlargement: can the European Neighbourhood Policy achieve compliance?" in: Columbia Journal of European Law, Vol.12, No.2, pp.384-427.
- Mcfaul, Michael (2004) "Democracy Promotion as a World Value" in: *The Washington Quarterly*, Vol.28, No.1, pp.147-163.
- Malmvig, Helle (2004) "Cooperation or Democratisation?. The EU's conflicting Mediterranean Security Discourses" DIIS Working Paper, No.2004/8.
- Malmvig, Helle (2007) "Cooperation, Reform or Dialogue: The EU's Ambivalent Security Discourses in the Mediterranean" in Peter Seeberg (ed.) *The EU and the Mediterranean. Foreign Policy and Security*, Odense: University Press of Southern Denmark, pp.85–120.
- Manners, Ian (2002) "Normative Power Europe: A contradiction in terms?" in: *Journal of Common Market Studies*, Vol.40, No.2, pp.235–58.
- Manners, Ian (2008) "The normative ethics of the European Union" in: *International Affairs*, Vol.84, No.1, pp.45-60.
- Mansfield, Edward D and Jack Snyder (1995) "Democratization and the Danger of War" in: *International Security* Vol.20, No.1, pp.5–38.
- March, James G. (1978) "Bounded Rationality, Ambiguity and the Engineering of Choice" in: *The Bell Journal of Economics*, Vol.9, No.2, pp.587-608.
- March, James G. and Johan P. Olsen (1998) "The Institutional Dynamics of International Political Orders" in: *International Organization*, Vol.52, No.4, pp.943-969.
- Matlary, Janne Haaland (2008) "Much ado about little: the EU and human security" in: *International Affairs*, Vol.84, No.1, pp.131-143.

- Meunier, Sophie and Kalypso Nicolaïdis (2005) "The European Union as a Trade Power" in Christopher Hill and Michael Smith (eds.), *International Relations and the European Union*, Oxford:University Press, pp.247–269.
- Mearsheimer, John J. (1995) "The False Promise of International Institutions" in: *International Security*, Vol.19, No.3, pp.5-49.
- Müller, Harald (2001) "International Relations as Communicative Action" in: Karin M. Fierke and Knud Erik Jørgensen (eds.), Constructing International Relations. The next generation, New York, London: M.E. Sharpe, pp.160–178.
- Nicolaïdis, Kalypso and Nicolaïdis Dimitri (2006) "The EuroMed beyond Civilizational Paradigms" in: Adler et.al (eds.) *The Convergence of Civilizations, Constructing a Mediterranean Region* Toronto: University of Toronto Press, pp. 337–377.
- Pace, Michelle (2007) "Norm shifting from EMP to ENP: the EU as a norm entrepreneur in the South?" in: *Cambridge Review of International Affairs*, Vol.20, No.4, pp.659-675.
- Phillipart, Eric (2003) "The Euro-Mediterranean Partnership: Unique Features, First Results and Future Challenges" CEPS Middle East & Euro-Med Project Working Paper, No.10.
- Panebianco, Stefania (2004) "Constraints to the EU as a 'Norm Exporter' in the Mediterranean" in: FORNET CFSP Forum, Vol.2, No.3, pp.8-11.
- Riddervold, Marianne (2002) Interesser, verdier eller rettigheter? En analyse av danske posisjoner i EUs utvidelsesprosess ARENA Report No.8/2002.
- Riddervold, Marianne (2008) "More than Rhetoric? EU foreign policy in the ILO" Working paper draft, presented at ARENA seminar 11 March 2008, Oslo.
- Risse, Thomas (2000) "Let's Argue!: Communicative Action in World Politics" in: *International Organization*, Vol.54, No.1, pp.1–39.

- Russett, Bruce and Zeev Maoz (1993) "Normative and Structural Causes of Democratic Peace, 1946 1986" in: *American Political Science Review*, Vol.87, No.3, pp.624-638.
- Seeberg, Peter (2007) "EU and the Mediterranean: Foreign Policy and Security" in Peter Seeberg (ed.), EU and the Mediterranean. Foreign Policy and Security, Odense: University Press of Southern Denmark, pp.7-37.
- Sen, Amartya (1999) "Democracy as a Universal Value" in: *Journal of Democracy*, Vol.10, No.3, pp.3-17.
- Simon, Herbert A. (1947) Administrative behavior, New York: Macmillan.
- Sjursen, Helene (2002) "Why Expand? The Question of Legitimacy and Justification of the EU's Enlargement Policy" in: *Journal of Common Market Studies*, Vol.40, No.3, pp.491–513.
- Sjursen, Helene (2006) "Introduction: Enlargement and the nature of the EU polity" in: Helene Sjursen (ed.), Questioning Enlargment. Europe in search of identity, pp.1–15.
- Sjursen, Helene (2007a) "What kind of power?" in: Helene Sjursen (ed.) Civilian or Military Power? European Foreign Policy in Perspective London: Routledge, pp.1-13.
- Sjursen, Helene (2007b) "The EU as a 'normative' power: how can that be?" in: Helene Sjursen (ed.) Civilian or Military Power? European Foreign Policy in Perspective London: Routledge, pp.67–83.
- Smith, Karen E. (2003) European Union Foreign Policy in a Changing World Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Smith, Karen E. (2005a) "Still 'civilian power EU?" Unit Working Paper 2005/1, London: European Foreign Policy.
- Smith, Karen E (2005b) "The Outsiders: The European Neighbourhood Policy" in: *International Affairs*, Vol.81, No.4, pp.757–773.
- Snidal, Duncan (2006) "Rational Choice and International Relations" in: Walter Carlsnaes, Thomas Risse and Beth A. Simmons (eds.), *Handbook of International* Relations, London: Sage, pp.73–94.

- Spanger, Hans-Joachim and Jonas Wolff (2007) "Why promote democratisation? Reflections on the instrumental value of democracy" in: Marieke van Doorn and Roel von Meijenfeldt (eds.) *Democracy Europe's Core Value*, Delft: Eburon Academic Publishers, pp.33–49.
- Stavridis, Stelios (2001) "Why the 'Militarising' of the European Union is strengthening the concept of a 'Civilian power Europe'" EUI Working Papers.
- Vanhoonacker, Sophie (2005) "The Institutional Framework" in Christopher Hill and Michael Smith (eds.), *International Relations and the European Union*, Oxford:University Press, pp.67–89
- Yin, Robert K. (2003): Case Study Research: Design and Methods. 2nd ed. London: Sage.
- Youngs, Richard (2001) The European Union and the promotion of democracy: Europe's Mediterranean and Asian policies. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Youngs, Richard (2004) "Normative Dynamics and Strategic Interests in the EU's External Identity" in: *Journal of Common Market Studies*, Vol.42, No.2, pp.415-35.
- Youngs, Richard (2005) "Ten years of the Barcelona process: A Model of Supporting Arab Reform?", Working Paper 2, FRIDE.

EU Documents and Speeches

- Ahern, Bertie (2004)"Declaration on Combating Terrorism is adopted in Brussels", Press Release, 25 March 2004, Available Online at: www.eu2004.ie.
- Barroso, José Manuel (2006) "Working for a Global Community of Freedom, Security and Prosperity", Speech at Brussels forum: transatlantic challenges in a global era, Brussels, 29 April 2006, Speech/06/269.
- Barroso, José Manuel (2007) "Shared challenges, shared futures: Taking the neighbourhood policy forward", Speech at European Neighbourhood Policy Conference, Brussels, 3 September 2007, Speech/07/502.
- Euro-Mediterranean Human Rights Network (2000) "The MEDA Democracy Programme", Available Online: http://www.emhrn.net/.
- European Commission (1995) "The Barcelona Declaration", The Euro-Mediterranean Partnership, Barcelona, 27-28.11.1995 Brussels.
- European Commission (1998) "Democratisation, the rule of law, respect for human rights and good governance: the challenges of the partnership between the European Union and the ACP states", Commission Communication to the Council and Parliament, COM(98) 146, 12. March 1998.
- European Commission (2001a) "The European Union's Role in Promoting Human Rights and Democratisation in Third Countries", Communication from the Commission to the Council and European Parliament, Brussels, 8 May 2001, COM(2001) 252 final.
- European Commission (2003a) "Wider Europe Neighbourhood: A New Framework for Relations with our Eastern and Southern Neighbours", Communication from the Commission to the Council and European Parliament, Brussels, 11. March 2003, COM(2003) 104 final.

- European Commission (2003b) "Reinvigorating EU actions on human rights and the democratisation with the Mediterranean partners, strategic guidelines", Communication from the Commission to the Council and European Parliament, Brussels, 21 May 2003, COM(2003) 294 final.
- European Commission (2004a) "European Neighbourhood Policy, Strategy Paper", Communication from the Commission, Brussels 12 May 2004, COM(2004) 373 final.
- European Commission (2004b) "EU Strategic Partnership with the Mediterranean and the Middle East, Final Report", EuroMed Report, Issue No.78, 23 June 2004.
- European Commission (2004bc) "On the Commission Proposals for Action Plans under the European Neighbourhood Policy", Communication from the Commission to the Council, Brussels 09 December 2004, COM(2004) 795 final.
- European Commission (2006a) "On Strengthening the European Neighbourhood Policy", Communication from the Commission to the Council and European Parliament, Brussels 4 December 2006, COM(2006) 726 final.
- European Commission (2007a) "A Strong European Neighbourhood Policy", Communication from the Commission, Brussels, 5 December 2007, COM(2007) 774 final.
- European Commission (2007b) "The European Neighbourhood Policy How the EU is making a difference in partner countries" Brussels, 5 December 2007, MEMO/07/548.
- European Commission (2007c) "European Neighbourhood and Partnership Instrument Jordan, Strategy Paper 2007–2013 & National Indicative Programme 2007–2010".
- European Commission (2008a) European Commission External Relations, Syrian Arabic Republic Webpage, (05.03.2008) [Online]: http://ec.europa.eu/external relations/syria/index en.htm.

- European Commission (2008b) DG Trade Webpage, (05.04.2008) [Online]: http://ec.europa.eu/trade/issues/bilateral/countries/index en.htm.
- European Commission–Morocco (2004) "EU/Morocco Action Plan", European Neighbourhood Policy.
- European Commission–Jordan (2004) "EU/Jordan Action Plan", European Neighbourhood Policy.
- European Commission–Egypt (2006)"EU/Egypt Action Plan", European Neighbourhood Policy.
- European Community–Egypt (1979) "Agreement between the Member States of the European Coal and Steel Community and the Arab Republic of Egypt", OJ L316, 12.12.1979.
- European Community–Morocco (2000) "Euro–Mediterranean Agreement, establishing an association between the European Communities and their Member States, of the one part, and the Kingdom of Morocco, of the other part", OJ L70/2, 18.03.2000.
- European Community–Algeria (2005) "Euro–Mediterranean Agreement, establishing an association between the European Communities and their Member States, of the one part, and the People's Democratic Republic of Algeria, of the other part" OJ L265/2, 10.10.2005.
- European Council (1996) "Council Regulation (EC)No 1488/96 of 23 July 1996 on financial and technical measures to accompany (MEDA) the reform of economic and social structures in the framework of the Euro-Mediterranean partnership", 30 July 1996, OJ L189.
- European Council (2003a) "Council meeting External Relations" General Affairs and External Relations", Brussels, 24 February 2003, 6604/03 (Presse).
- European Council (2003b) "Mid-term Euro-Mediterranean Conference, Presidency Conclusions", Crete, 26-27 May 2003, 9890/03 (Presse 151).
- European Council (2004a) "Declaration on Combating Terrorism", Brussels 25 March 2004.

- European Council (2004b) "Press Release General Affairs and External Relations", 10189/04 (Presse 195), Luxemburg, 14 June 2004.
- European Council (2006a) "8th Euro-Mediterranean Conference of Ministers of Foreign Affairs (Tampere, 27-28 November 2006) Tampere Conclusions", Brussels, 30 November 2006, 15921/1/06 REV 1 (Presse 344).
- European Council (2006b)"Regulation (EC) No 1638/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 October 2006 laying down general provisions establishing a European Neighbourhood and Partnership Instrument", 9 November 2006, L310/1.
- European Council (2007a) "Strengthening the European Neighbourhood Policy - Council Conclusions" General Affairs and External Relation, 19 June 2007.
- European Council (2007b) "Strengthening the European Neighbourhood Policy Presidency Progress Report" General Affairs and External Relation 18/19 June 2007.
- European Parliament (2003) "Report on 'Wider Europe Neighbourhood: A New Framework for Relations with our Eastern and Southern Neighbours", Committee on Foreign Affairs, Final A5-0378/2003, 5 November 2003.
- European Parliament (2005) "Report on the European neighbourhood policy", Committee on Foreign Affairs, Final A6-0399/2005, 7 December 2005.
- European Parliament (2006a) "Report on the external dimension of the fight against international terrorism", Committee on Foreign Affairs, Final A6-0441/2006, 1 December 2006.
- European Parliament (2006b) "European Parliament resolution on the European Neighbourhood Policy", P6_TA(2006)0028, 19 January 2006.
- Ferroro-Waldner, Benita (2004) Press Conference to launch the first seven Action Plans under the European Neighbourhood Policy, Brussels, 9 December speech/04/529.

- Ferrero-Waldner, Benita (2005a) "Euro-Mediterranean Relations", Speech, Strasbourg, 23 February 2005.
- Ferrero-Waldner, Benita (2005b) "European Values", Speech at Council of Europe Warsaw Summit, 16-17 May 2005.
- Ferrero-Waldner, Benita (2005c) "European Neighbourhood Policy: helping ourselves through helping our neighbours", Speech at Conference of Foreign Affairs Committee Chairmen of EU member and candidate states, London, 31 October 2005, Speech/05/658.
- Ferrero-Waldner, Benita (2005d) "Que Vadis Europe?", Speech at EPP "Paneuropa" Group, Strasbourg, 14 December 2005, Speech/05/797.
- Ferrero-Waldner, Benita (2006a) "European Neighbourhood Policy", Speech at Swedish Institute for International Affairs and the European Commission Representation in Sweden, Stockholm, 7 March 2006, Speech/06/149.
- Ferrero-Waldner, Benita (2006b) "Dialogue of Cultures clash of civilizations or clash of ignorance?", Speech at Euro-Mediterranean Parliamentary Assembly, Plenary Session, Brussels, 27 March 2006, Speech/06/198.
- Ferrero-Waldner, Benita (2006c) "The EU, the Mediterranean an the Middle East: A Partnership for Reform", Speech at The German World Bank Forum "Middle East & Germany: Change and Opportunities", Hamburg, 2 June 2006, Speech/06/341.
- Ferroro-Waldner, Benita (2006d) "The European Neighbourhood Policy: bringing our neighbours closer", Speech at the 10th Euro-Mediterranean Economic Transition Conference, Brussels, 6 June 2006, Speech/06/346.
- Ferroro-Waldner, Benita (2006e) "The EU's role in tackling current international challenges", Speech at the World Jewish Congress Governing Board meeting, Paris, 12 November 2006, Speech/06/678.
- Ferroro-Waldner, Benita (2006f) "Remarks on democracy promotion", Speech at the Conference *Democracy Promotion: The European Way*, organized by

- the European Parliament's Alliance of Liberals and Democrats for Europe, Brussels, 7 December 2006, Speech/06/790.
- Ferrero-Waldner, Benita (2007a) "The External Dimension of the Fight Against International Terrorism", Statement to the EP plenary session, Strasbourg, 14 February 2007, Speech/07/81.
- Ferrero-Waldner, Benita (2007b) "Opening Speech", Speech at European Neighbourhood Policy Conference, Brussels, 3 September 2007, Speech/07/500.
- Ferrero-Waldner, Benita (2007c) "EU and Egypt partners for the future", Speech at Lucheon hosted by the Egyptian-European Council, Cairo, 31 October, 2007, Speech/07/677.
- Ferrero-Waldner, Benita (2007d) "The European Neighbourhood Policy and the Regions", Speech at Structured Dialogue Committee of the Regions, Brussels, 18 December 2007, Speech/07/829.
- Landaburu, Eneko (2006) "From Neighbourhood to Integration Policy: are there concrete alternatives to enlargement?", Speech at CEPS Conferance "Revitalising Europe".
- Mandelson, Peter (2007) "Remarks in the debate on the future of the EuroMed process" Speech at the 6th Euromed Conference, Lisbon, 21 October 2007.
- Mandelson, Peter (2008) "Agadir and after: prospects for a Free Trade Area of the Mediterranean", Speech, Brussels, 8 April 2008.
- Patten, Chris (2003a) "Democracy doesn't flow from the barrel of a gun" in: 'Foreign Policy' Magazine, September 2003.
- Patten, Chris (2003b) "It is not in the stars to hold our destiny...", Article on the Euro-Med Partnership, 2 December 2003.
- Patten, Chris (2004) "Election Support: Achievements and Challenges", Speech at Election Observers Conference, Brussels, 28 September 2004, Speech/04/425.

- Prodi, Romano (2002a) "Europe and the Mediterranean: time for action", Speech at UCL, Louvain-la-Neuve, 26 November 2002.
- Prodi, Romano (2002b) "A Wider Europe A Proximity Policy as the key to stability", Speech at "Peace, Security And Stability International Dialogue and the Role of the EU" Sixth ECSA-World Conference. Jean Monnet Project, Brussels, 5-6 December 2002, Speech/02/619.
- Solana, Javier and Chris Patten (2002) "Wider Europe", Letter, 7 August 2002, Available Online URL: http://www.lfpr.lt/uploads/File/2002-10/Letter.pdf.
- Solana (2003) "A Secure Europe in a Better World. European Security Strategy", Brussels, 12 December 2003.
- Solana, Javier (2005a) "Europe's leading role in the spread of democracy", Article in Financial Times, 14 March 2005.
- Solana, Javier (2005b) "Intervention", at the EuroMed Ministerial Plenary, Luxembourg, 31 May 2005, S202/05.
- Solana, Javier (2005c) "Address", at the EuroMed Parliamentary Assembly, Committee on Political Affairs, Security and Human Rights, Brussels, 15 June 2005, S219/05.
- Solana, Javier (2006) "Address", at the EU Energy Conference "Towards an EU External Energy Policy", Brussels, 20 November 2006, S324/06.
- Solana, Javier (2008) "The External Energy Policy of the European Union" Speech at the Annual Conference of the French Institute of International relations (IFRI), Brussels, 1 February 2008, S042/08.
- Treaty of the European Union (1992) Official Journal C 1991 of 29 July.
- Verhaugen, Günter (2004) "The European Neighbourhood Policy" Speech at Prime Ministerial Conference of the Vilnius and Visegrad Democracies: "Towards a Wider Europe: the new agenda", Bratislava, 19 March 2004, Speech/04/141.
- Walström, Margot (2005) "The European Neighbourhood Policy and the Euro-Mediterranean partnership" Speech at Euro-Mediterranean Parliamentary Assembly, Cairo, 14 March 2005 Speech/05/171.

ARENA Reports

- 08/2: Nina Fredrikke Meyer Stensholt: "Between Norms and Interests EU Democracy Promotion in the Mediterranean Neighbourhood"
- 08/1: Martine Matre Bonarjee: "Primus inter pares? The Parliamentarisation and Presidentialisation of the European Commission: between European integration and organisational dynamics
- 07/8: Erik O. Eriksen (ed.): "How to Reconstitute Democracy in Europe? Proceedings from the RECON Opening Conference", (RECON Report No 3)
- 07/7: Joakim Parslow: "Turkish Political Parties and the European Union: How Turkish MPs Frame the Issue of Adapting to EU Conditionality"
- 07/6: Jonathan P. Aus: "Crime and Punishment in the EU: The Case of Human Smuggling"
- 07/5: Marit Eldholm: "Mot en europeisk grunnlov? En diskursteoretisk analyse av Konventet for EUs fremtid"
- 07/4: Guri Rosén: "Developing a European public sphere a conceptual discussion"
- 07/3: Hans-Jörg Trenz, Maximilian Conrad and Guri Rosén: "The Interpretative Moment of European Journalism The impact of media voice in the ratification process", (RECON Report No 2)
- 07/2 John Erik Fossum, Philip Schlesinger and Geir Ove Kværk (eds): "Public Sphere and Civil Society? Tranformations of the European Union"
- 07/1: Agustín José Menéndez (ed.): "Altiero Spinelli From Ventotene to the European Constitution", (RECON Report No 2)
- 06/2: Even Westerveld: "Sverige eller svenskenes EU?" hvordan ulike oppfatninger av EU kan påvirke valget av prosedyre for ratifiseringen av EU-grunnloven.

- 06/1 Erik Oddvar Eriksen, Christian Joerges and Florian Rödl (eds): "Law and Democracy in the Post-National Union".
- 05/9: Camilla Myhre: "Nettverksadministrative systemer i EU? En studie av det norske Post- og teletilsynet"
- 05/8: John Erik Fossum (ed.): "Constitutional processes in Canada and the EU compared"
- 05/7: Espen D.H. Olsen: "Mellom rettigheter, kultur og *cosmopolis*: En teoretisk og empirisk analyse av europeisering og statsborgerskap"
- 05/6: Marianne Takle: "From Ethnos to Demos? Changes in German Policy on Immigration"
- 05/5: Ingvild Jenssen: "The EU's minority policy and Europe's Roma: Cultural differentiation or cosmopolitan incorporation?"
- 05/4: Grete Berggård Feragen: "Europeisering av norsk gasspolitikk"
- 05/3: Erik O. Eriksen, John Erik Fossum and Agustín José Menéndez: "The European Constitution: the Rubicon Crossed?"
- 05/2: Helene Sjursen (ed.): "Enlargement in perspective"
- 05/1: Gitte Hyttel Nørgård: "Mod et netværk-administrativt system i EU? Et studie af den danske IT og Telestyrelse"
- 04/9: Agustín José Menéndez and Erik Oddvar Eriksen (eds): "Fundamental Rights through Discourse. On Robert Alexy's Legal Theory – European and Theoretical Perspectives"
- 04/8: Geir-Martin Blæss: "EU og Habermas' diskursteoretiske demokratimodell. Et prosedyremessig rammeverk for et postnasjonalt demokrati?"
- 04/7: Veronika Witnes Karlson: "EU en normativ internasjonal aktør?. En analyse av Russland i EUs utenrikspolitikk"
- 04/6: Frode Veggeland: "Internasjonalisering og styring av matpolitikk. Institusjoners betydning for staters atferd og politikk"
- 04/5: Carlos Closa and John Erik Fossum (eds.) "Deliberative Constitutional Politics in the EU"
- 04/4: Jan Kåre Melsæther: "Valgt likegyldighet. Organiseringen av europapolitisk informasjon i Stortinget og Riksdagen"
- 04/3: Karen Pinholt: "Influence through arguments? A study of the Commission's influence on the climate change negotiations"
- 04/2: Børge Romsloe: "Mellom makt og argumentasjon: En analyse av småstater i EUs felles utenriks- og sikkerhetspolitikk"

- 04/1: Karen Fløistad: "Fundamental Rights and the EEA Agreement"
- 03/7: Øivind Støle: "Europeanization in the Context of Enlargement. A Study of Hungarian Environmental Policy"
- 03/6: Geir Ove Kværk: "Legitimering gjennom rettigheter? En studie av arbeidet med EUs Charter om grunnleggende rettigheter, og sivilsamfunnets bidrag til dette"
- 03/5: Martin Hauge Torbergsen: "Executive Dominance in a Multi-level Polity. Europeanisation and Parliamentary Involvement in the Spanish Autonomous Communities"
- 03/4: Caroline Rugeldal: "Identitetsbygging i EU En studie av EUs symbolstrategi"
- 03/3: Elisabeth Hyllseth: "Lovlig skatt eller ulovlig statsstøtte? En studie av norske myndigheters respons i konflikten med ESA om den norske ordningen med differensiert arbeidsgiveravgift"
- 03/2: Erik O. Eriksen, Christian Joerges and Jürgen Neyer (eds.): "European Governance, Deliberation and the Quest for Democratisation"
- 03/01: Maria Hasselgård: "Playing games with values of higher importance? Dealing with 'risk issues' in the Standing Committee on Foodstuffs".
- 02/11: Tommy Fredriksen: "Fra marked til plan. Europeisering av norsk lakseeksport".
- 02/10: Thomas A. Malla: "Nasjonalstat og region i den nye økonomien. En studie av hvordan betingelsene for politisk regulering av næringslivet i EU endres gjennom utbredelsen av markeder for elektronisk handel".
- 02/9: Anne Elizabeth Stie: "Preconditions for Democracy: National Identity Versus Constitutional Patriotism. A Theoretical Analysis of the German Federal Constitutional Court's Maastricht Judgement".
- 02/8: Marianne Riddervold: "Interesser, verdier eller rettigheter? En analyse av danske posisjoner i EUs utvidelsesprosess".
- 02/7: Helene Sjursen (ed.): "Enlargement and the Finality of the EU"
- 02/6: Various contributors: "Democracy and European Governance: Towards a New Political Order in Europe?" Proceedings from the ARENA European Conference 2002
- 02/5: Erik Oddvar Eriksen, John Erik Fossum and Agustín José Menéndez (eds.): "Constitution Making and Democratic Legitimacy"
- 02/4: Heidi Moen: "Fører alle veger til Brussel? En studie av Vegdirektoratets tilpasning til EU og EØS-avtalen"

- 02/3: Trygve Ugland: "Policy Re-Categorization and Integration Europeanisation of Nordic Alcohol Control Policies"
- 02/2: Julie Wedege: "Sosial rettferdighet og normativ legitimitet En analyse av potensielle sosialpolitiske utviklinger i EU"
- 02/1: Øyvind Mehus Sjursen: "To motpoler konvergerer En analyse av britisk og tysk tilnærming til politi- og strafferettssamarbeidet i EU"
- 01/8: Erik Oddvar Eriksen, John Erik Fossum and Agustín José Ménendez (eds): "The Chartering of Europe The Charter of Fundamental Rights in Context"
- 01/7: Jarle Trondal: "Administrative Integration Across Levels of Governance Integration through Participation in EU-Committees"
- 01/6: Marthe Indset: "Subsidiaritetsprinsippet i EU etter IGC-96"
- 01/5: Liv Kjølseth: "Konflikt eller samarbeid? En analyse av medlemsstatenes adferd under Agenda 2000-forhandlingene og det institusjonelle forhandlingssystemet i EU"
- 01/4: Various Contributors: "Shaping the Union? Nordic Presidencies in the EU" Proceedings from the ARENA Annual conference 2000.
- 01/3: Svein S. Andersen (ed): "Institutional Approaches to the European Union proceedings from an ARENA workshop"
- 01/2: Maria Martens: "Europeisering gjennom overvåkning En studie av ESAs opprettelse og virkemåte"
- 01/1: Inger Johanne Sand: "Changes in the functions and the Relations of Law and Politics-Europeanization, Globalization and the Role of the New Technologies"
- 00/8: Ulf Sverdrup: "Ambiguity and Adaptation-Europeanization of Administrative Institutions as Loosely Coupled Processes"
- 00/7: Helene Sjursen (ed): "Redefining Security? Redefining the Role of The European Union in European Security Structures", Proceedings from an ARENA Workshop
- 00/6: Christian Henrik Bergh: "Implementering av EU-direktiv i Norge, Postdirektivet – Nasjonal tilpasning i forkant"
- 00/5: Morten Dybesland: "Til felles nytte? Interesser og verdier bak nordisk utenriks- og sikkerhetspolitisk samarbeid"
- 00/4: Andreas Holm Bakke: "National Welfare and European Capitalism? The Attempt to Create a Common Market for Supplementary Pension"
- 00/3: Ingeborg Kjærnli: "Ikke bare makt og nasjonale interesser? En analyse av EUs utvidelse østover i et integrasjonsteoretisk perspektiv"

- 00/2: Jon Helge Andersen: "Fra atlantisk sikkerhet til europeisk usikkerhet? En studie av utenriksdepartementets og forsvarsdepartementets responser på endrede sikkerhetspolitiske rammebetingelser"
- 00/1: Various contributors: "Nordic Contrasts. Norway, Finland and the EU." Proceedings from the ARENA Annual Conference 1999
- 99/5: Elin Kristine Karlsson: "Babel i Brussel og Oslo? Flerspr¬kligheten i EU og respons i norske institusjoner"
- 99/4: Frøydis Eldevik: "Liberalisering av gassmarkedet i Europa. EUs gassdirektiv av 1998"
- 99/3: Theodor Barth & Magnus Enzell (eds.): "Collective Identity and Citizenship in Europe. Fields of Access and Exclusion"
- 99/2: Simen Bræin: "Europeisering som rettsliggjñring. EØS-avtalen, EU og det norske alkoholmonopolet"
- 99/1: Various contributors: "Between Autonomy and Influence Small states and the European Union", Proceedings from ARENA•s Annual Conference 1998
- 98/2: Heidi Olsen: "'Europeisering' av Universitetet: Fullt og helt eller stykkevis og delt?"
- 98/1: Kjetil Moen: "Fra monopol til konkurranse. EØS, norsk legemiddelpolitikk og Norsk Medisinaldepot"
- 97/5: Jon Erik Dølvik: "Redrawing Boundaries of Solidarity? ETUC, Social Dialogue and the Europeanisation of Trade Unions in the 1990s"
- 97/4: Stig Eliassen & Pål Meland: "Nasjonal identitet i statslñse nasjoner. En sammenliknende studie av Skottland og Wales"
- 97/3: Frode Veggeland: "Internasjonalisering og Nasjonale Reformforsñk. EU, GATT og endringsprosessene i Landbruksdepartementet og jordbrukssektoren"
- 97/2: Vebjørn Dysvik: "The Road to Maastricht. Dynamic and Formative Forces in the EMU Process"
- 97/1: Jon Erik Dølvik: "ETUC and Europeanisation of Trade Unionism in the 1990's"
- 96/2: Tom Christensen: "Adapting to Processes of Europeanisation A Study of the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs"
- 96/1: Various contributors: "Enlargement to the East". Proceedings from 'European Thresholds' - ARENA Conference Series

Democratic principles have traditionally not been an important aspect of the EU's foreign policy in the Mediterranean region, however, with the launch of the European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP), promotion of political reforms and norms appears to take on a more prominent role in the EU's Mediterranean policy. This analysis seeks to explain this emerging emphasis on democracy promotion in the Mediterranean region. Based on an analytical distinction between pragmatic, ethical-political, and moral arguments, this study suggests that the EU's democracy promotion is founded on more than utility considerations. In fact, it indicates that a sense of liaison-based duty to assist close neighbours is particularly important in understanding the focus on democratic principles in the ENP, and finally, that moral commitments appear to play a role, even if only an adjusting one. Hence, in light of the literature on the EU's foreign policy, and in particular its so-called 'normative' dimension, these findings present a nuanced picture and suggest that the EU's democracy promotion is neither a purely interestbased nor norm-based policy, rather it has elements of both, yet, with emphasis upon the latter.

Nina Fredrikke Meyer Stensholt is Master in Political Science from the University of Oslo, and has been a part of the ARENA Student Project.

ARENA - Center for European Studies at the University of Oslo promotes theoretically oriented, empirically informed studies, analyzing the dynamics of the evolving European political order. ARENA's primary goal is to establish high quality research on the transformation of the European political order, with a particular emphasis on the European Union.



P. O. Box 1143, Blindern N-0317 Oslo, Norway Tel. (+47) 22 85 87 00 arena@arena.uio.no www.arena.uio.no